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introduction
Siemens AG’s Interim Report for the Siemens Group complies with the applicable legal require-
ments of the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG) regarding quar-
terly financial reports, and comprises Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements and 
an Interim group management report in accordance with §37x (3) WpHG. The Condensed Inter-
im Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpretations issued by the International Account-
ing Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the European Union (EU). The Condensed Interim 
Consolidated Financial Statements also comply with IFRS as issued by the IASB. This Interim 
Report should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report for fiscal 2011, which includes a 
detailed analysis of our operations and activities. 

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this and other documents may not add up 
precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.
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 Key figures Q1 2012 1, 2

Capital efficiency

Q1 2012 Q1 2011

Continuing operations

Return on capital employed (ROCE) (adjusted) 19.0% 23.7%

Continuing and discontinued operations 5

Return on capital employed (ROCE) (adjusted) 18.4% 22.6%

Cash performance

Q1 2012 Q1 2011

Continuing operations

Free cash flow (1,029) 1,059

Cash conversion rate (0.76) 0.57

Continuing and discontinued operations 5

Free cash flow (1,219) 928

Cash conversion rate (0.84) 0.53

Liquidity and capital structure

December 31, 2011 September 30, 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 8,977 12,468

Total equity (Shareholders of Siemens AG) 33,306 31,530

Net debt 7,951 4,995

Adjusted industrial net debt (502) (1,534)

Employees – in thousands

December 31, 2011 September 30, 2011

Cont.
Op. Total 7

Cont.
Op. Total 7

Employees 363 405 360 402

Germany 118 128 116 127

Outside Germany 246 277 244 275

Earnings

Total Sectors Q1 2012 Q1 2011 % Change

Adjusted EBITDA 2,024 2,548 (21)%

Total Sectors profit 1,601 2,088 (23)%

in % of revenue (Total Sectors) 8.9% 11.9%

Continuing operations

Adjusted EBITDA 2,118 3,034 (30)%

Income from continuing operations 1,356 1,846 (27)%

Basic earnings per share (in €) 4 1.53 2.07 (26)%

Continuing and discontinued operations 5

Net income 1,457 1,753 (17)%

Basic earnings per share (in €) 4 1.64 1.97 (17)%

Volume

Q1 2012 Q1 2011 % Change
Continuing operations Actual Adjusted 3

New orders 19,809 20,837 (5)% (4)%

Revenue 17,902 17,603 2% 3%

Free cash flow – continuing operations

Q1 2012 (1,029)

Q1 2011 1,059

Revenue growth – continuing operations 3

Q1 2012 17,902

Q1 2011 17,603
3%

New orders – continuing operations 3

Q1 2012 19,809

Q1 2011 20,837
(4)%

ROCE (adjusted) – continuing operations

Q1 2012 19.0%

Q1 2011 23.7%

  Target corridor: 15 – 20%

Basic earnings per share 
(in €) – continuing operations 4

Q1 2012 1.53

Q1 2011 2.07
(26)%

Income from continuing operations

Q1 2012 1,356

Q1 2011 1,846
(27)%

1 � New orders; Adjusted or organic growth rates of revenue and new orders; 
Total Sectors profit; ROCE (adjusted); Free cash flow and cash conversion rate; 
Adjusted EBITDA; Net debt and adjusted industrial net debt are or may be 
non-GAAP financial measures. Definitions of these supplemental financial 
measures, a discussion of the most directly comparable IFRS financial measures, 
information regarding the usefulness of Siemens’ supplemental financial 
measures, the limitations associated with these measures and reconciliations 
to the most comparable IFRS financial measures are available on our Investor 
Relations website under www.siemens.com/nonGAAP

2 � October 1, 2011 – December 31, 2011.
3 � Adjusted for portfolio and currency translation effects.
4 � Basic earnings per share – attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG.  

For fiscal 2012 and 2011 weighted average shares outstanding (basic) (in 
thousands) for the first quarter amounted to 875,421 and 871,194 shares, 
respectively. 

5 � Discontinued operations primarily consist of OSRAM, Siemens IT Solutions 
and Services, the former Communication activities and Siemens VDO Auto
motive. 

6 � Calculated by dividing adjusted industrial net debt as of December 31, 2011 
and 2010 by annualized adjusted EBITDA.

7 � Continuing and discontinued operations.

(unaudited; in millions of €, except where otherwise stated)

Adjusted industrial net debt /  
Adjusted EBITDA – continuing operations 6

Q1 2012 (0.06)

Q1 2011 (0.02)

  Target corridor: 0.5 – 1.0
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>> Revenue for the first quarter rose 2%, to €17.902 billion, in-
cluding increases in all reporting regions and 8% growth in 
emerging markets. Organic revenue, excluding currency 
translation and portfolio effects, grew 3%.

>> Orders came in at €19.809 billion, 5% below the prior-year 
period which included a significantly higher volume from 
large orders. The book-to-bill ratio for the quarter was 1.11, 
and the order backlog reached a new high at €102 billion.

>> Total Sectors Profit declined 23%, to €1.601 billion, including 
lower profit in all Sectors. 

>> Income from continuing operations was down 27%, at 
€1.356 billion and corresponding basic EPS was €1.53. Net 
income declined 17%, to €1.457 billion and corresponding 
basic EPS of €1.64.�  

Siemens began in fiscal 2012 with a new Sector, Infrastruc-
ture & Cities, comprised of operations previously included in 
the Sectors Industry and Energy. Prior-period results for these 
three Sectors are reported on a comparable basis. For more in-
formation, see Siemens’ Annual Report for fiscal 2011.

Management’s perspective on first-quarter results. The 
uncertainties of the ongoing debt crisis have left their mark 
on the real economy. Our revenue increased again, while cer-
tain project delays burdened profits. Although a recovery is 
expected in the second half of the year, we must work hard to 
achieve our goals. With a backlog of more than €100 billion, a 
strong portfolio and a solid financial position, Siemens is a 
trusted partner.

Revenue rises, order backlog hits new high. The macro
economic environment grew more uncertain in the first quar-
ter of fiscal 2012. Revenues rose 2%. Orders for Siemens de-
clined 5% compared to the prior-year period, when the Sectors 
took in a higher volume from large orders, but again came 
in higher than revenue for a book-to-bill ratio of 1.11. The back-
log (defined as the sum of the order backlogs of the Sectors) 
increased to a new high of €102 billion at the end of the quar-
ter, benefiting from positive currency translation effects of 
€2 billion.

Higher revenue in all regions. Revenue in Energy was up 8% 
year-over-year, with all Divisions contributing to the increase. 
Revenue for Industry rose on increases in both of its Divisions. 
Revenue for the Healthcare Sector was up slightly, and Infra-
structure & Cities posted a modest decline.

On a geographic basis, revenue was higher in all three regions 
compared to the prior-year period, led by 5% growth in Asia, 
Australia. Emerging markets on a global basis, as these markets 
are defined by the International Monetary Fund, grew faster 
than revenue overall, at 8% year-over-year, and accounted for 
€5.749 billion, or 32%, of total revenue for the first quarter.

Orders decline on lower volume from large orders. Orders 
rose 4% in Healthcare. The other Sectors posted order declines 
due to a significantly lower volume from large orders compared 
to the first quarter a year earlier. Orders in Industry in the prior 
year included a high volume of internal orders. Orders from ex-
ternal customers in Industry rose 6% year-over-year.

On a geographic basis, orders rose 3% in the Americas but 
declined 9% in Asia, Australia and 8% in the region compris-
ing Europe, the Commonwealth of Independent States (C.I.S.), 
Africa, Middle East. Emerging markets on a global basis 
showed more strength than orders overall, declining only 3% 
and accounting for €7.192 billion, or 36%, of total orders for 
the first quarter.

Interim group management report
Overview of financial results for the first quarter of fiscal 2012 
(Three months ended December 31, 2011)

Revenue (in millions of €)

Siemens
17,902

17,603

Energy Sector 1
6,176

5,723

Healthcare Sector 1
3,152

3,135

Industry Sector 1
4,702

4,486

Infrastructure &  
Cities Sector 1

4,055

4,184

 1  Includes intersegment revenue          Q1 2012      Q1 2011

2%

8%

1%

5%

(3)%
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Total Sectors profit burdened by charges and higher func-
tional costs. Total Sectors profit declined to €1.601 billion in 
the first quarter, down from €2.088 billion in the same period 
a year earlier. The difference was due mainly to project charg-
es in Energy and Infrastructure & Cities. In addition, Health-
care took charges related to its two-year initiative “Agenda 
2013” to increase competitiveness and innovation. Total Sec-
tors profit was further held back by higher functional costs in 
all Sectors associated with growth, and by increased pricing 
pressure in renewable energy. For comparison, Total Sectors 
profit in the first quarter a year earlier was burdened by €240 
million in expenses for special employee remuneration.

With its short-cycle businesses continuing to perform well, In-
dustry contributed €556 million to Total Sectors profit in the 
first quarter, down from €641 million in the same period a 
year earlier. In the Energy Sector, profit fell to €481 million 
from €753 million a year earlier. The Sector took €203 million 
of the project charges mentioned above, related to delays in 
transmission projects, and posted losses in Renewable Ener-
gy. Fossil Power Generation delivered another strong earnings 
performance. Healthcare recorded profit of €364 million, 
down from €381 million in the prior-year period due largely to 
the charges mentioned above, totaling €72 million. First-quar-
ter profit for Infrastructure & Cities fell to €200 million from 
€313 million a year earlier. This was due in part to €69 million 
of project charges mentioned above, related to delays in a roll-
ing stock order in Germany.

Income falls with Sectors profit. Income from continuing 
operations was €1.356 billion. Corresponding EPS was €1.53. 
In the prior-year period, income from continuing operations 
was €1.846 billion with corresponding basic EPS of €2.07. The 
main reason for the decline year-over-year was lower Total 
Sectors profit, while Financial Services (SFS) continued to de-
liver strong earnings contributions. Overall, results outside 
the Sectors remained nearly stable year-over-year, with the 
exception of the €240 million related to special employee re-
muneration allocated to the Sectors as mentioned above. The 
remuneration was accrued centrally at the end of fiscal 2010 
before being debited to the Sectors in the first quarter of fiscal 
2011. This created a corresponding positive effect within Cor-
porate items.

Positive contributions from discontinued operations. Net 
income was €1.457 billion compared to €1.753 billion in the 
prior-year period. Corresponding basic EPS declined to €1.64 
from €1.97 a year earlier. Within net income, discontinued op-
erations swung to a positive €101 million from a negative €93 
million a year earlier. The improvement was due to a sharply 
lower loss related to Siemens IT Solutions and Services, which 
was sold to Atos S.A. (AtoS) between the periods under re-
view. This loss was €2 million in the current period, down 
from €170 million in the first quarter a year earlier. Income 
from discontinued operations related to OSRAM came in 
slightly higher, reaching €115 million compared to €111 million 
a year earlier. OSRAM reported a 7% revenue increase com-
pared to the first quarter a year earlier, and 3% growth on an 
organic basis. OSRAM announced its intention to further 
strengthen its position in LED lighting while reducing its ca-
pacities for traditional lighting products.

New orders (in millions of €)

Siemens
19,809

20,837

Energy Sector 1
7,182

8,090

Healthcare Sector 1
3,284

3,168

Industry Sector 1
4,901

4,993

Infrastructure &  
Cities Sector 1

4,679

4,962

 1  Includes intersegment orders          Q1 2012      Q1 2011

(5)%

(11)%

4%

(2)%

(6)%

Profit Sectors (in millions of €)

Total Sectors profit
1,601

2,088

Energy Sector 
481

753

Healthcare Sector 
364

381

Industry Sector 
556

641

Infrastructure &  
Cities Sector 

200

313

   Q1 2012      Q1 2011

(23)%

(36)%

(4)%

(13)%

(36)%
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Weak cash performance at Total Sectors. After a strong 
year-end cash performance in fiscal 2011, Free cash flow at the 
Sector level was a negative €128 million in the current quarter 
compared to a positive €1.489 billion in the first quarter a year 
ago. The change year-over-year was due mainly to a substan-
tial increase in trade and other receivables, especially in Ener-
gy, €0.3 billion related to the particle therapy business at 
Healthcare and also to lower Total Sectors profit. Free cash 
flow from continuing operations was a negative €1.029 billion 
compared to a positive €1.059 billion in the prior-year period, 
due mainly to the weak cash performance in the Sectors.

Free cash flow from discontinued operations was a negative 
€190 million compared to a negative €131 million in the first 
quarter a year ago. The decrease year-over-year related mainly 
to OSRAM, including net payments associated with contribu-
tions to pension plans, partly offset by lower cash outflows re-
lated to Siemens IT Solutions and Services.

ROCE declines on lower income from continuing opera-
tions. On a continuing basis, ROCE (adjusted) declined to 
19.0% in the first quarter of fiscal 2012, down from 23.7% a 
year earlier. The difference was due to lower income from 
continuing operations, only slightly offset by lower average 
capital employed year-over-year.

Improvement in pension plan underfunding. The estimat-
ed underfunding of Siemens’ pension plans (continuing oper-
ations) as of December 31, 2011 amounted to approximately 
€5.7 billion, compared to an underfunding of approximately 
€6.2 billion at the end of fiscal 2011. The improvement in 
funded status since September 30, 2011 is due mainly to a pos-
itive actual return on plan assets. This was only partly offset 
by an increase in Siemens’ defined benefit obligation (DBO) 
resulting from a decrease in the discount rate assumption as 
of December 31, 2011 and from accrued service and interest 
costs.

Free cash flow (in millions of €)

Total Sectors
(128)

1,489

Continuing  
operations

(1,029)

1,059

Continuing and  
discontinued  
operations

(1,219)

928

   Q1 2012      Q1 2011

n / a

n / a

n / a

Income and Profit (in millions of €)

Total Sectors profit
1,601

2,088

Income from con- 
tinuing operations

1,356

1,846

Net income
1,457

1,753

   Q1 2012      Q1 2011

(23)%

(27)%

(17)%
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Results of Siemens

The following discussion presents selected information for 
Siemens for the first quarter of fiscal 2012:

Orders and revenue
The macroeconomic environment grew more uncertain in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2012. While revenue was up 2%, first-
quarter orders came in 5% below the prior-year period. Orders 
decreased to €19.809 billion from the level a year earlier, 
when the Sectors took in a higher volume from large orders. 
Revenue rose 2% to €17.902 billion with growth in all three re-
porting regions. On an organic basis, excluding the net effect 
of currency translation and portfolio transactions, orders de-
clined 4% and revenue was up 3% compared to the prior-year 
quarter. With orders exceeding revenue in all Sectors, the 
book-to-bill ratio for Siemens overall came in at 1.11. The order 
backlog climbed to €102 billion as of December 31, 2011 in part 
benefiting from positive currency translation effects of €2 bil-
lion. Under the new Sector structure, the backlog was €98 bil-
lion at the end of fiscal 2011.

which included a significantly higher volume from major 
orders at Transportation & Logistics. Emerging markets on a 
global basis showed more strength than orders overall, de-
clining only 3% and accounting for €7.192 billion, or 36%, of 
total orders for the quarter.

On a geographic basis, the regions Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Mid-
dle East and Asia, Australia posted order declines, partly offset 
by an increase in the Americas. In the region Europe, C.I.S., 
Africa, Middle East, orders were 8% lower on decreases in 
three of four Sectors. Industry showed a moderate increase in 
the region driven by a double-digit increase at Industry Auto-
mation. In the Energy Sector a 13% drop in order intake was 
due primarily to a significantly lower volume from large or-
ders at Fossil Power Generation. The Infrastructure & Cities 
Sector also recorded an order decline in the region, which was 
due primarily to a significantly lower volume from large or-
ders at Transportation & Logistics. Healthcare orders declined 
slightly in the region. The 3% order increase in the Americas 
included all Sectors. Industry posted an increase of 12% in the 
Americas region, including increases in both of  its Divisions. 
The Sectors Infrastructure & Cities and Healthcare both showed 
moderate growth. Energy orders increased slightly in the re-
gion, as a number of major contract wins at Renewable Ener-
gy offset lower order intake at other Divisions in the Sector. 
In the Asia, Australia region, first-quarter orders declined 9% 
year-over-year due mainly to the Energy Sector, driven by a 
lower volume from large orders at Fossil Power Generation 
and Power Transmission. The Healthcare Sector posted an 
18% order increase in the region due primarily to imaging and 
therapy systems. Industry showed a slight order increase in 
the region while Infrastructure & Cities declined slightly. The 
order decline of 64% in India was due largely to a major con-
tract win in the prior-year period at Fossil Power Generation.

New orders (location of customer)	

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Europe, C.I.S.2, Africa, Middle East 9,856 10,700 (8)% (7)% (1)% 0%

  therein Germany 2,623 2,707 (3)% (2)% 0% (1)%

Americas 5,994 5,794 3% 5% (2)% 0%

  therein U.S. 4,567 4,320 6% 6% (1)% 0%

Asia, Australia 3,959 4,343 (9)% (9)% 0% (1)%

  therein China 1,380 1,640 (16)% (17)% 3% (1)%

  therein India 432 1,186 (64)% (59)% (4)% 0%

Siemens 19,809 20,837 (5)% (4)% (1)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects    2  Commonwealth of Independent States

Orders related to external customers declined 5% and were 
mixed in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. While Industry and 
Healthcare showed increases, orders in Energy and Infrastruc-
ture & Cities were down. Orders increased in Industry due 
mainly to double-digit growth at Industry Automation. Order 
growth of 4% in Healthcare came primarily from imaging and 
therapy systems and clinical products. Order intake declined 
11% in Energy due primarily to a substantially lower volume 
from large orders at Fossil Power Generation compared to the 
prior-year period. The Power Transmission Division also post-
ed significantly lower orders. Orders for the Infrastruc-
ture & Cities Sector came in lower than the prior-year period, 
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As previously disclosed, Siemens has decided that, subject to 
certain limited exceptions, it will not enter into new contracts 
with customers in Iran and has issued group-wide policies es-
tablishing the details of its general decision. Under the origi-
nal version of the policies, among other exceptions, which 
have been previously disclosed, products and services re-
quired to maintain the installed base (e.g. deliveries of spare 
parts, maintenance and assembly services) were permitted to 
be provided. However, in January 2012, Siemens resolved to 
amend the policies to provide that no new business with re-
spect to products and services destined to maintain the in-
stalled base in Iran’s oil & gas sector may be entered into un-
der any circumstances. In addition, even outside the oil & gas 
sector, products and services for the installed base in Iran may 
be provided only in strictly limited circumstances which can 
be demonstrated to satisfy humanitarian purposes or private 
purposes serving the common good (e.g., water supply and 
healthcare of the civilian population).

Revenue related to external customers rose 2% compared to 
the first quarter a year earlier, on growth in three of four Sec-
tors. Revenue in the Energy Sector increased 8% year-over-

year, on increases in all Divisions. Revenue for Industry rose on 
increases in both of its Divisions. Reported revenue in Health-
care came in slightly higher compared to the prior-year period. 
Infrastructure & Cities Sector showed a modest revenue decline 
due primarily to a double-digit decrease at Transportation & Lo-
gistics. Emerging markets on a global basis grew faster than 
revenue overall, at 8% year-over-year, and accounted for €5.749 
billion, or 32%, of total revenue for the quarter.

On a geographic basis, revenue increased in all three report-
ing regions. In Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East, first-quar-
ter revenue rose 1% year-over-year, including an increase of 
13% in Industry. Revenue for Energy rose 6% in the region, 
driven by a double-digit increase at Power Transmission. In-
frastructure & Cities and Healthcare showed moderate de-
clines in the region. In the Americas, higher revenue in Infra-
structure & Cities and Healthcare were partly offset by a de-
cline in Industry. The Energy Sector held revenue almost level 
in the region compared to the prior-year period. Revenue rose 
5% in the Asia, Australia region. Double-digit increases in 
Energy and Healthcare more than offset declines at Industry 
and Infrastructure & Cities in the region. 

Revenue (location of customer)

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Europe, C.I.S.2, Africa, Middle East 9,551 9,444 1% 2% (1)% 0%

  therein Germany 2,761 2,770 0% 1% 0% (1)%

Americas 4,915 4,895 0% 2% (2)% 0%

  therein U.S. 3,633 3,569 2% 2% (1)% 0%

Asia, Australia 3,436 3,264 5% 6% 1% (2)%

  therein China 1,448 1,501 (4)% (4)% 3% (3)%

  therein India 517 523 (1)% 8% (9)% 0%

Siemens 17,902 17,603 2% 3% (1)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects    2  Commonwealth of Independent States

New orders and revenue by quarter (in millions of €)

New orders Revenue Book-to-bill ratio

Q1 12 19,809 Q1 12 17,902 1.11

Q4 11 21,157 Q4 11 20,351 1.04

Q3 11 22,937 Q3 11 17,844 1.29

Q2 11 20,651 Q2 11 17,717 1.17

Q1 11 20,837 Q1 11 17,603 1.18
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Consolidated Statements of Income

First three months of fiscal % Change

(in millions of €) 2012 2011

Gross profit on revenue 5,082 5,648 (10)%

  as percentage of revenue 28.4% 32.1%

Gross profit for the first quarter decreased 10% compared to 
the same period a year earlier. On the Sector level, gross profit 
rose slightly in Healthcare and Industry. Mainly due to project 
charges, gross profit fell substantially in Energy and moder-
ately in Infrastructure & Cities. In addition, gross profit was al-
so held back by pricing pressure in renewable energy. As a re-
sult, gross profit margin for Siemens overall was 28.4%, down 
from 32.1% in the first quarter a year earlier.

First three months of fiscal % Change

(in millions of €) 2012 2011

Research and development  
expenses (986) (864) 14%

  as percentage of revenue 5.5% 4.9% –

Marketing, selling and general 
administrative expenses (2,638) (2,411) 9%

  as percentage of revenue 14.7% 13.7%

Other operating income 114 260 (56)%

Other operating expense (101) (214) (53)%

Income from investments 
accounted for using  
the equity method, net 198 123 61%

Interest income 562 548 3%

Interest expense (433) (419) 3%

Other financial income  
(expense), net 48 (72) n /a

Research and development expenses rose to €986 million 
or 5.5% of revenue, from €864 million or 4.9% of revenue in 
the prior-year period, on increases in all Sectors. Marketing, 
selling and general administrative expenses in the first 
quarter rose to €2.638 billion or 14.7% of revenue, from €2.411 
billion or 13.7% of revenue a year earlier, including higher ex-
penses in all sectors primarily associated with business ex-
pansion.

Other operating income was €114 million in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2012, down from €260 million in the same period a 
year earlier. The decrease is mainly due to substantially lower 
income from the disposals of real estate. In addition, the prior 
year included €64 million related to a settlement of legal mat-
ters in connection with portfolio activities. Other operating 
expense was €101 million in the first quarter, compared to 
€214 million in the prior-year period. The prior-year period in-
cluded higher charges related to legal and regulatory matters. 
For additional information, see  Notes 3 and 4 in Notes to 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements within 
this Interim Report.

Income from investments accounted for using the equity 
method, net was €198 million in the current quarter, com-
pared to €123 million in the first quarter a year earlier. This in-
crease is mainly due to gain on the sale of a stake in Bangalore 
International Airport Limited at SFS. Income from the invest-
ment in Nokia Siemens Networks B.V. (NSN) was €0 million in 
the first quarter, compared to income of €18 million in the pri-
or-year period. 

Interest income increased to €562 million, from €548 million 
in the same period a year earlier. Interest expense increased 
to €433 million, from €419 million in the prior-year quarter. 
For additional information, see  Note 5 in Notes to Con-
densed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements within this 
Interim Report.

Other financial income (expense), net was a positive €48 
million in the first quarter of fiscal 2012, compared to a nega-
tive €72 million in the same period a year earlier. This increase 
was primarily due to a €87 million gain from the sale of the 
25% interest in OAO Power Machines in Russia. In addition, 
the Company realized higher income related to hedge activi-
ties that did not qualify for hedge accounting. For additional 
information, see  Note 5 in Notes to Condensed Interim Con-
solidated Financial Statements within this Interim Report.
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First three months of fiscal % Change

(in millions of €) 2012 2011

Income from continuing  
operations before income  
taxes 1,846 2,599 (29)%

Income taxes (490) (753) (35)%

 � as percentage of income 
from continuing operations 
before income taxes 27% 29% –

Income from continuing  
operations 1,356 1,846 (27)%

Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations,  
net of income taxes 101 (93) n /a

Net income 1,457 1,753 (17)%

 � Net income attributable to 
non-controlling interests 18 35 –

 � Net income attributable to 
shareholders of Siemens AG 1,440 1,718 (16)%

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 
decreased to €1.846 billion in the current quarter, compared 
to €2.599 billion in the same period a year earlier. The change 
year-over-year was due to the factors mentioned above, in 
particular the higher functional costs associated with growth, 
the project charges at Energy and Infrastructure & Cities, and 
increased pricing pressure. The effective tax rate was 27% in 
the first quarter, below the 29% in the prior-year period. As a 
result, income from continuing operations was €1.356 billion 
in the current period, down from €1.846 billion in the first 
quarter a year earlier.

Discontinued operations primarily include OSRAM, which 
Siemens plans to list publicly. The timing of the public offer-
ing depends on market conditions. In addition, discontinued 
operations include Siemens IT Solutions and Services, which 
was sold to AtoS in the fourth quarter of 2011, and certain re-
maining items related to former activities that were disposed 
of in prior years. Income from discontinued operations in the 
current quarter was a positive €101 million, compared to a 
negative €93 million in the same period a year earlier. The im-
provement was mainly due to a significantly lower loss relat-
ed to Siemens IT Solutions and Services. This loss was €2 mil-
lion in the current period, down from a loss of €170 million in 
the first quarter a year earlier. Income from discontinued op-

erations related to OSRAM came in slightly higher, reaching 
€115 million compared to €111 million a year earlier, as positive 
effects from the cessation of depreciation more than offset 
lower operating results. For additional information, see  Note 
2 in Notes to Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial State-
ments within this Interim Report.

Net income for Siemens in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 de-
clined to €1.457 billion, compared to €1.753 billion in the same 
period a year earlier. Net income attributable to shareholders 
of Siemens AG was €1.440 billion, down from €1.718 billion in 
the prior-year quarter.

Portfolio activities 
Siemens completed certain portfolio transactions during the 
first three months of fiscal 2012, which did not have a signifi-
cant effect on our Interim Consolidated Financial Statements. 
To further expand its global gas turbine manufacturing net-
work, Siemens launched a subsidiary, Siemens Gas Turbine 
Technologies Holding B.V., during the first quarter of fiscal 
2012. Siemens has a 65% stake in the subsidiary. In the first 
quarter of fiscal 2012, as part of the transaction, Siemens com-
pleted the sale of its 25% interest in OAO Power Machines, 
Russia, held by the Energy Sector. For further information on 
acquisitions and dispositions, see  Notes 2 and 5 in Notes to 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements within 
this Interim Report.
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Segment information analysis

Sectors
Energy 

Effective with the beginning of fiscal 2012, the Energy Sector 
no longer includes the Power Distribution Division, which 
was transferred to the new Infrastructure & Cities Sector. Prior-
period results for the Sector are reported on a comparable 
basis.

Energy reported a profit of €481 million in the first quarter, 
substantially below €753 million in the same period a year 
earlier. While Fossil Power Generation continued its strong 
project execution and earnings performance of recent quar-
ters, Power Transmission recorded a substantial loss due to 
project charges, and Renewable Energy also posted a loss. 
Sector profit was further held back by higher functional costs 
resulting mainly from Energy ’s business expansion strategy. 
For comparison, profit in the prior-year period included the 
Sector’s €60 million share of the special employee remunera-
tion mentioned earlier.

First quarter revenue rose 8% on conversion from Energy ’s 
strong order backlog, including double-digit revenue growth 
at Oil & Gas. On a regional basis, revenue grew rapidly in Asia, 
Australia, while the Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East region 
posted solid growth and revenue remained flat in the Ameri-
cas. In contrast, order development was mixed in the first 
quarter. Orders at Fossil Power Generation came in substan-
tially lower compared to the prior-year period, which included 
a much larger volume from major orders, and Power Trans-
mission also posted significantly lower orders. These declines 
were only partly offset by Renewable Energy, where orders 
jumped from a low basis of comparison in the prior-year 
period. As a result, orders for the Sector overall fell 11% com-
pared to the first quarter a year ago. The regional picture for 
orders was also mixed, including a slight increase in the 
Americas and decreases in other regions. The book-to-bill 
ratio for Energy was 1.16, and the Sector’s order backlog in-
creased to €58 billion at the end of the quarter.

Sector

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Profit 481 753 (36)%

Profit margin 7.8% 13.1%

New orders 7,182 8,090 (11)% (11)% (2)% 1%

Revenue 6,176 5,723 8% 8% (1)% 1%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects

New orders by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Fossil Power Generation 2,742 3,916 (30)% (31)% (1)% 1%

Renewable Energy 2 1,560 945 65% 66% (1)% 0%

Oil & Gas 1,422 1,394 2% 1% 0% 2%

Power Transmission 1,553 1,957 (21)% (16)% (4)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
2  Renewable Energy is the sum of the Wind Power Division and the Solar & Hydro Division.
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Fossil Power Generation generated profit of €580 million, up 
22% compared to the prior-year period on strong project per-
formance in the solutions business and, to a lesser extent, a 
higher earnings contribution from the service business. Profit 
also benefited from an €87 million gain from the sale of the 
25% interest in OAO Power Machines, as part of the ongoing 
reorganization and expansion of its manufacturing network 
and service activities in Russia. This gain more than offset fur-
ther project charges of €51 million related to the Olkiluoto 
project in Finland. Revenue rose 6% compared to the first 
quarter a year earlier, primarily on growth in Asia, Australia. 
Due to the lower volume from major orders mentioned above, 
first-quarter orders were down 30% including declines in all 
three reporting regions.

The Renewable Energy business includes Siemens’ Wind 
Power Division and Solar & Hydro Division. Higher expenses 
for R&D, marketing and selling associated with expansion in a 
highly competitive market, a less favorable revenue mix, and 
increased pricing pressure resulted in a loss for Wind Power. 
As a result, Renewable Energy posted a loss of €48 million in 
the first quarter. Revenue for Renewable Energy rose 9% year-
over-year, with nearly all growth coming from the Americas 
region. New orders climbed 65% compared to the first quarter 
a year earlier, which included a low volume from large orders. 
The Americas recorded a number of large orders for onshore 

wind-farms in the U.S., and led growth in all three reporting 
regions. The wind business expects continued revenue growth 
and a return to profitability in coming quarters.

Oil & Gas produced profit of €90 million in the first quarter, 
down from the prior-year period due primarily to recognition 
of a valuation allowance on receivables. Revenue increased 
16% on growth in all reporting regions, with the highest in-
creases coming from Asia, Australia. Orders edged up 2% as 
increases in Asia, Australia and Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle 
East more than offset lower orders in the Americas.

Power Transmission reported a loss of €145 million for the 
first quarter. The major factor was €203 million in project 
charges mainly related to grid connections to offshore wind-
farms in Germany, due to project delays resulting from a com-
plex regulatory environment and cost increases associated 
with marine platforms. The Division was also impacted by a 
less favorable revenue mix. First-quarter revenue rose 3% 
year-over-year, as growth in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East 
more than offset decreases in the Americas and Asia, Austra-
lia. First-quarter orders came in 21% lower compared to the 
prior-year quarter, including a sharp drop in orders in the so-
lutions business. Orders were down in all three reporting re-
gions, most notably Asia, Australia. The Division expects con-
tinuing challenges in coming quarters.

Revenue by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Fossil Power Generation 2,612 2,454 6% 6% (1)% 1%

Renewable Energy 2 943 868 9% 9% (1)% 0%

Oil & Gas 1,239 1,066 16% 16% (1)% 2%

Power Transmission 1,465 1,428 3% 5% (2)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
2  Renewable Energy is the sum of the Wind Power Division and the Solar & Hydro Division.

Profit and Profit margin by Businesses

Profit Profit margin

First three months of fiscal First three months of fiscal

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011

Fossil Power Generation 580 474 22% 22.2% 19.3%

Renewable Energy 1 (48) 36 – (5.1)% 4.2%

Oil & Gas 90 108 (17)% 7.3% 10.2%

Power Transmission (145) 135 – (9.9)% 9.4%

1  Renewable Energy is the sum of the Wind Power Division and the Solar & Hydro Division. 
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Healthcare

First-quarter profit in the Healthcare Sector was €364 million, 
influenced by a two-year global initiative “Agenda 2013” aimed 
at improving the Sector’s competitive position and expanding 
its capacity for innovation. The Sector took €72 million in 
charges related to this initiative in the first quarter, in part for 
refocusing the radiation oncology business and improving the 
cost position at Diagnostics. Healthcare expects additional 
charges related to the initiative in coming quarters. Profit de-
velopment in the current period also included higher market-
ing, selling and general administrative expenses. For compar-
ison, Healthcare profit of €381 million in the first quarter a 
year earlier was held back by €32 million in charges related to 
the particle therapy business, a reserve of €19 million related 
to a customer loan and receivables in the audiology business, 
and the Sector‘s €43 million portion of the special employee 
remuneration mentioned earlier. 

In connection with the “Agenda 2013” initiative, Diagnostics 
took €35 million charges related to improving its cost posi-
tion. This was partly offset by positive results from a more fa-
vorable product mix. As a result, profit came in at €67 million 
compared to €78 million in the first quarter a year earlier. Pur-
chase price allocation (PPA) effects related to past acquisi-
tions at Diagnostics were €42 million in the first quarter. 
A year earlier, Diagnostics recorded €44 million in PPA effects. 
Operational challenges are expected to continue in coming 
quarters.

Healthcare increased revenue and orders 1% and 4%, respec-
tively, compared to the prior-year period. Order growth came 
primarily from imaging and therapy systems and clinical prod-
ucts. On a regional basis, Asia, Australia was the primary 
growth driver for the Sector, including double-digit increases 
in China for both revenue and orders. The Americas region 
showed modest growth, while revenue and orders each de-
clined in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East. The book-to-bill 
ratio was 1.04, and Healthcare‘s order backlog was €7 billion 
at the end of the first quarter.

The Sector’s Diagnostics business contributed to overall 
growth, with revenue of €925 million and orders of €927 mil-
lion rising from €916 million and €926 million, respectively, in 
the prior-year period. On a geographic basis, Asia, Australia 
drove revenue and order growth on the strength of double-
digit increases in China, while other regions showed slight 
declines.

Sector

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Profit 364 381 (4)%

Profit margin 11.6% 12.2%

New orders 3,284 3,168 4% 3% 0% 0%

Revenue 3,152 3,135 1% 1% 0% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
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Industry

Effective with the beginning of fiscal 2012, the Industry Sec-
tor no longer includes Siemens’ transportation and logistics, 
building technologies and low voltage businesses, which 
were transferred to the new Infrastructure & Cities Sector. The 
Industry Solutions Division was dissolved and its business ac-
tivities mainly divided up among the Industry Automation Di-
vision, the Drive Technologies Division and the Sector-led 
Metals Technologies Business Unit. Prior-period results for the 
Sector are reported on a comparable basis.

In a robust business environment, Industry ’s short cycle busi-
nesses continued to increase revenue year-over-year and the 
Sector further invested in growth and innovation. Higher as-
sociated expenses for functional costs held back profit and 
profitability in the current quarter. First-quarter profit was al-
so burdened by pricing pressure for offerings in the markets 

for renewable energy. As a result, profit in Industry in the cur-
rent period came in at €556 million. For comparison, first-
quarter profit of €641 million a year earlier benefited from a 
more favorable revenue mix. Together with lower functional 
costs, this more than offset the Sector’s €75 million share of 
the special employee remuneration costs mentioned above. 

Revenue in the current quarter was up 5% compared to the 
prior-year period. On a regional basis, a double-digit revenue 
increase in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East on strong de-
mand from export-oriented customers more than offset de-
clines in other regions. Orders came in somewhat lower com-
pared to the same quarter a year earlier, which included a sig-
nificantly higher volume from large orders at Drive Technolo-
gies. The Sector’s book-to-bill ratio was 1.04 and its order 
backlog was €12 billion at the end of the quarter.

Sector

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Profit 556 641 (13)%

Profit margin 11.8% 14.3%

New orders 4,901 4,993 (2)% (2)% 0% 0%

Revenue 4,702 4,486 5% 5% (1)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects

New orders by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Industry Automation 2,452 2,188 12% 13% (1)% 0%

Drive Technologies 2,297 2,625 (12)% (12)% 0% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects

Revenue by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Industry Automation 2,249 2,172 4% 4% 0% 0%

Drive Technologies 2,161 2,070 4% 5% 0% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
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Industry Automation contributed first-quarter profit of €323 
million, a decline from the prior-year period due mainly to in-
creased expenses for marketing and selling associated with 
growth initiatives. The Division’s revenue mix was also less 
favorable compared to the first quarter a year ago. Overall 
profitability for Industry Automation in both periods is strong-
ly influenced by lower-margin industrial solutions activities 
including water technologies, which were transferred into In-
dustry Automation effective with the beginning of fiscal 2012. 
Revenue was 4% higher in the current period, on increases in 
all three reporting regions. Orders came in 12% higher com-
pared to the prior-year period. The change year-over-year in-
cluded a positive effect from a change in policy in order recog-
nition related to product life cycle management software. On 
a regional basis, orders grew in all three regions including 
double-digit increases in the regions Americas and Europe, 
C.I.S., Africa, Middle East. PPA effects related to the fiscal 2007 
acquisition of UGS Corp. were €35 million in the current peri-
od, unchanged from the same quarter a year earlier.

First-quarter profit at Drive Technologies was €194 million, 
down from €239 million a year earlier. The decline was due 
mainly to higher marketing and selling costs associated with 
growth and continuing increases in R&D expenses including 
for eCar. Furthermore, the Division’s offerings for wind energy 
were negatively influenced by pricing pressure. In contrast, in 
a robust business environment, the Division’s short-cycle 
businesses improved profit year-over-year. Overall profitability 
for Drive Technologies in both periods was influenced by low-
er-margin industrial solutions activities, which were trans-
ferred into the Division effective with the beginning of fiscal 
2012. Revenue for the quarter was 4% higher than a year ear-
lier, and orders declined 12% due to the large internal orders 
mentioned above, which were significantly higher in the pri-
or-year period. On a regional basis, revenue and orders in-
creased in the regions Americas and Europe, C.I.S., Africa, 
Middle East.

Profit and Profit margin by Businesses

Profit Profit margin

First three months of fiscal First three months of fiscal

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011

Industry Automation 323 362 (11)% 14.3% 16.7%

Drive Technologies 194 239 (19)% 9.0% 11.5%
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Infrastructure & Cities 

The Infrastructure & Cities Sector combines Siemens’ busi-
nesses in transportation and logistics, power grid solutions 
and products, and building technologies. These businesses 
were formerly included within the Sectors Energy and Indus-
try. Prior-period results for the Sector are reported on a com-
parable basis.

The Infrastructure & Cities Sector recorded a profit of €200 mil-
lion in the first quarter, held back by a charge of €69 million at 
a rolling stock project, a less favorable business mix at the 
Low and Medium Voltage Division as well as higher functional 
costs associated with growth initiatives. For comparison, prof-
it of €313 million in the prior-year period included a €63 mil-

lion share of the special employee remuneration mentioned 
earlier. First-quarter revenue for Infrastructure & Cities de-
clined 3% year-over-year. Orders came in 6% lower than the 
prior-year period, which included a significantly higher vol-
ume from major orders at Transportation & Logistics. The Pow-
er Grid Solutions & Products business and Building Technolo-
gies Division posted volume growth compared to the first 
quarter a year earlier. On a regional basis, revenue and orders 
grew in the Americas but declined in the region Europe, C.I.S., 
Africa, Middle East and the region Asia, Australia. The Sector’s 
book-to-bill ratio was 1.15 and its order backlog at the end of 
the quarter was €25 billion.

Sector

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Profit 200 313 (36)%

Profit margin 4.9% 7.5%

New orders 4,679 4,962 (6)% (5)% (1)% 0%

Revenue 4,055 4,184 (3)% (3)% (1)% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects

New orders by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Transportation & Logistics 2 1,937 2,269 (15)% (15)% (1)% 0%

Power Grid Solutions & Products 3 1,496 1,397 7% 10% (3)% 0%

Building Technologies 1,353 1,335 1% 1% 0% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
2  Transportation & Logistics is the sum of the Rail Systems Division and the Mobility and Logistics Division.
3  Power Grid Solutions & Products is the sum of the Low and Medium Voltage Division and the Smart Grid Division.

Revenue by Businesses

First three months of fiscal % Change therein

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 Actual Adjusted 1 Currency Portfolio

Transportation & Logistics 2 1,399 1,556 (10)% (10)% 0% 0%

Power Grid Solutions & Products 3 1,353 1,330 2% 4% (2)% 0%

Building Technologies 1,370 1,323 4% 3% 0% 0%

1  Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects
2  Transportation & Logistics is the sum of the Rail Systems Division and the Mobility and Logistics Division.
3  Power Grid Solutions & Products is the sum of the Low and Medium Voltage Division and the Smart Grid Division.
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The Transportation & Logistics business includes Siemens’ 
Rail Systems Division and Mobility and Logistics Division. 
Profit for Transportation & Logistics fell to €27 million in the 
first quarter, a significant decline from the prior-year period. 
The primary factor was charges of €69 million related to de-
lays in fulfilling a rolling stock order in Germany. This delay 
also reduced revenue by €45 million during the quarter, and 
revenue overall came in 10% lower compared to the first quar-
ter a year earlier. While the current period includes a major or-
der for trains in Russia, the prior-year period included a num-
ber of such orders, including a major order for high-speed 
trains in the U.K. As a result, orders for the current period 
came in 15% lower than a year earlier. On a regional basis, rev-
enue and orders declined in all three reporting regions com-
pared to the prior-year period.

The Power Grid Solutions & Products business includes 
Siemens’ Low and Medium Voltage Division and its Smart Grid 
Division. First-quarter profit for Power Grid Solutions & Prod-
ucts declined to €82 million due to a less favorable business 
mix mainly at the low voltage business and higher expenses 
for smart grid growth initiatives. Revenue rose 2% compared 
to the first quarter a year ago, due to growth in the Americas. 
Orders increased 7%, as growth in the regions Americas and 
Asia, Australia more than offset a decline in the region Eu-
rope, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East.

Building Technologies contributed profit of €85 million in 
the first quarter. The decline compared to the prior-year peri-
od was due to higher functional costs associated with growth 
initiatives. Revenue and orders were up 4% and 1%, respec-
tively, compared to the prior-year period on broad-based 
growth throughout the Division. On a regional basis, revenue 
was up in all three reporting regions while order growth came 
from the regions Asia, Australia and Europe, C.I.S., Africa, 
Middle East.

Profit and Profit margin by Businesses

Profit Profit margin

First three months of fiscal First three months of fiscal

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011

Transportation & Logistics 1 27 102 (73)% 1.9% 6.5%

Power Grid Solutions & Products 2 82 120 (32)% 6.0% 9.0%

Building Technologies 85 89 (5)% 6.2% 6.7%

1  Transportation & Logistics is the sum of the Rail Systems Division and the Mobility and Logistics Division.
2  Power Grid Solutions & Products is the sum of the Low and Medium Voltage Division and the Smart Grid Division.
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Equity Investments 
Profit at Equity Investments in the current period was €75 
million compared to €85 million a year earlier. The result relat-
ed to Siemens’ share in NSN was equity investment income of 
€0 million compared to equity investment income of €18 mil-
lion in the prior-year period. NSN reported to Siemens that it 
took restructuring charges and integration costs totaling €23 
million, down from €29 million in the first quarter a year ear-
lier. In the coming quarter, NSN expects substantial charges 
related to its previously announced global restructuring pro-
gram aimed at maintaining long-term competitiveness and 
improving profitability.

Profit from Equity Investments is expected to be volatile in 
coming quarters.

Financial Services (SFS)

First three months of fiscal

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 % Change

Profit 199 102 95%

Dec. 31, 2011 Sept. 30, 2011

Total assets 16,126 14,602 10%

As previously announced, effective with the beginning of fis-
cal 2012 SFS realigned its resources and expertise in the capi-
tal business into two global business models: Project and 
Structured Finance and Commercial Finance.

In the first quarter, SFS generated €199 million in profit (de-
fined as income before income taxes), a sharp increase com-
pared to €102 million in the prior-year period. The current pe-
riod benefited from a €78 million gain on the sale of a stake in 
Bangalore International Airport Limited, a public-private part-
nership. This transaction reduced SFS’s equity participation 
from 40% to 26%. The capital business generated higher inter-
est results compared to the prior-year period, partly offset by 
increased operating expenses associated with its growth 
strategy. SFS took advantage of a favorable environment to 
book new business, and Total assets increased significantly, to 
€16.126 billion, including positive currency translation effects. 
The resulting growth in new business reduced Siemens’ Total 
liquidity.
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Reconciliation to  
Consolidated Financial Statements
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements includes 
Centrally managed portfolio activities, SRE and various cate-
gories of items which are not allocated to the Sectors and to 
SFS because Management has determined that such items are 
not indicative of the Sectors’ and SFS’ respective performance.

Centrally managed portfolio activities
Centrally managed portfolio activities broke even in the 
first quarter compared to a loss of €1 million in the prior-year 
period.

Siemens Real Estate
Income before income taxes at Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 
was €5 million in the first quarter, compared to €97 million in 
the same period a year earlier. This decrease is mainly attrib-
utable to significantly lower income related to the disposal of 
real estate.

Corporate items and pensions
Corporate items and pensions totaled a negative €74 million 
in the first quarter compared to a positive €259 million in the 
same period a year earlier. The difference was due primarily to 
Corporate items, which were a negative €61 million compared 
to a positive €231 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2011. The 
current quarter included net expenses of €46 million related 
to a major asset retirement obligation, compared to €24 mil-
lion in the prior-year quarter. In addition, the current quarter 
includes an amount of €35 million related to reimbursements 
to AtoS for costs which arise in connection with AtoS becom-
ing Siemens‘ external IT service provider. The prior-year quar-
ter benefited from management’s allocation of €267 million of 
personnel-related costs related to the special employee remu-
neration mentioned earlier, which had been accrued in Corpo-
rate items in fiscal 2010. Within this amount are €240 million 
that were allocated to the Sectors as mentioned earlier. The 
prior period also included higher net expenses related to legal 
and regulatory matters.

Centrally carried pension expense totaled a negative €13 mil-
lion in the first quarter, compared to a positive €28 million in 
the prior-year period. The change is due primarily to a nega-
tive effect resulting from a lower expected return on plan as-
sets and higher interest costs.

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury  
and other reconciling items
Income before income taxes from Eliminations, Corporate 
Treasury and other reconciling items was a positive €39 
million in the first quarter compared to a negative €32 million 
in the same period a year earlier. The primary factor in the im-
provement was higher income from Corporate Treasury activi-
ties due mainly to changes in the fair market value of interest 
rate derivatives used for interest rate management.
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For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Profit 1 Income (loss) from  
investments accounted  

for using the equity
method, net 2

Financial income
(expense), net 3

Adjusted
EBIT 4

Amortization 5 Depreciation and  
impairments of property, 

plant and equipment
and goodwill 6

Adjusted
EBITDA

Adjusted 
EBITDA margin

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Sectors

 E nergy Sector 481 753 21 8 79 (3) 381 748 20 19 88 84 489 850 7.9% 14.9%

    therein: 	 Fossil Power Generation 580 474 15 3 80 (3) 485 474 6 4 31 29 521 506

	 Renewable Energy (48) 36 (3) (6) (1) 3 (45) 40 5 6 19 17 (21) 63

	 Oil & Gas 90 108 – – (1) (1) 91 109 7 7 15 14 114 130

	 Power Transmission (145) 135 9 11 1 (2) (154) 126 3 3 21 23 (130) 152

 H ealthcare Sector 364 381 2 1 (10) 2 372 378 113 81 92 82 577 541 18.3% 17.3%

    therein: 	 Diagnostics 67 78 – – 1 3 66 75 80 49 55 56 201 180

 I ndustry Sector 556 641 2 2 (4) (1) 557 640 64 64 73 72 694 776 14.8% 17.3%

    therein: 	 Industry Automation 323 362 1 – (1) – 323 362 49 50 30 30 402 442

	 Drive Technologies 194 239 1 1 (1) 1 194 237 12 12 40 38 246 287

 I nfrastructure & Cities Sector 200 313 5 1 (5) (4) 199 315 27 26 38 39 264 380 6.5% 9.1%

    therein:	 Transportation & Logistics 27 102 2 – (4) (3) 28 105 3 3 10 11 42 119

	 Power Grid Solutions & Products 82 120 3 2 (1) (1) 80 119 9 10 16 16 104 145

	 Building Technologies 85 89 – – (1) – 85 89 15 14 12 12 112 115

Total Sectors 1,601 2,088 31 11 61 (5) 1,509 2,082 224 190 291 276 2,024 2,548

 E quity Investments 75 85 74 72 2 7 – 5 – – – – – 5

  Financial Services (SFS) 199 102 95 26 106 73 (1) 3 2 2 58 77 58 82

Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements

    Centrally managed portfolio activities – (1) 2 3 – – (2) (3) 1 1 – 2 (1) –

    Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 5 97 – – (30) (15) 35 113 – – 68 65 103 179

    Corporate items and pensions (74) 259 – – (35) 14 (39) 245 3 3 12 11 (24) 260

    Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items 39 (32) (4) 10 73 (16) (30) (26) – – (11) (13) (41) (39)

Siemens 1,846 2,599 198 123 177 57 1,471 2,419 230 196 418 419 2,118 3,034

1 � Profit of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is earnings before financing interest, certain pension costs and income taxes. Certain  
other items not considered performance indicative by Management may be excluded. Profit of SFS and SRE is Income before income taxes. Profit of Siemens is Income from continuing 
operations before income taxes. For a reconciliation of Income from continuing operations before income taxes to Net income see Consolidated Statements of Income.

2 � Includes impairments and reversals of impairments of investments accounted for using the equity method.
3 � Includes impairment of non-current available-for-sale financial assets. For Siemens, Financial income (expense), net comprises Interest income, Interest expense and Other financial 

income (expense), net as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
4  Adjusted EBIT is Income from continuing operations before income taxes less Financial income (expense), net and Income (loss) from investments accounted for using the equity method, net.

5  Amortization and impairments, net of reversals, of intangible assets other than goodwill.
6 � Depreciation and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals. Includes impairments of goodwill of €– million in the current period and €– million in the prior-year period, 

respectively.

Reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations)

The following table gives additional information on topics 
included in Profit and Income before income taxes and pro-
vides a reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA based on continuing 
operations. We report adjusted EBIT and adjusted EBITDA as a 
performance measure. The closest comparable GAAP figure 

under IFRS is Net income as reported in our “Consolidated 
Statements of Income.” For further information regarding 
adjusted EBIT and adjusted EBITDA, see  Notes and forward-
looking statements.
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For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Profit 1 Income (loss) from  
investments accounted  

for using the equity
method, net 2

Financial income
(expense), net 3

Adjusted
EBIT 4

Amortization 5 Depreciation and  
impairments of property, 

plant and equipment
and goodwill 6

Adjusted
EBITDA

Adjusted 
EBITDA margin

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Sectors

 E nergy Sector 481 753 21 8 79 (3) 381 748 20 19 88 84 489 850 7.9% 14.9%

    therein: 	 Fossil Power Generation 580 474 15 3 80 (3) 485 474 6 4 31 29 521 506

	 Renewable Energy (48) 36 (3) (6) (1) 3 (45) 40 5 6 19 17 (21) 63

	 Oil & Gas 90 108 – – (1) (1) 91 109 7 7 15 14 114 130

	 Power Transmission (145) 135 9 11 1 (2) (154) 126 3 3 21 23 (130) 152

 H ealthcare Sector 364 381 2 1 (10) 2 372 378 113 81 92 82 577 541 18.3% 17.3%

    therein: 	 Diagnostics 67 78 – – 1 3 66 75 80 49 55 56 201 180

 I ndustry Sector 556 641 2 2 (4) (1) 557 640 64 64 73 72 694 776 14.8% 17.3%

    therein: 	 Industry Automation 323 362 1 – (1) – 323 362 49 50 30 30 402 442

	 Drive Technologies 194 239 1 1 (1) 1 194 237 12 12 40 38 246 287

 I nfrastructure & Cities Sector 200 313 5 1 (5) (4) 199 315 27 26 38 39 264 380 6.5% 9.1%

    therein:	 Transportation & Logistics 27 102 2 – (4) (3) 28 105 3 3 10 11 42 119

	 Power Grid Solutions & Products 82 120 3 2 (1) (1) 80 119 9 10 16 16 104 145

	 Building Technologies 85 89 – – (1) – 85 89 15 14 12 12 112 115

Total Sectors 1,601 2,088 31 11 61 (5) 1,509 2,082 224 190 291 276 2,024 2,548

 E quity Investments 75 85 74 72 2 7 – 5 – – – – – 5

  Financial Services (SFS) 199 102 95 26 106 73 (1) 3 2 2 58 77 58 82

Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements

    Centrally managed portfolio activities – (1) 2 3 – – (2) (3) 1 1 – 2 (1) –

    Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 5 97 – – (30) (15) 35 113 – – 68 65 103 179

    Corporate items and pensions (74) 259 – – (35) 14 (39) 245 3 3 12 11 (24) 260

    Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items 39 (32) (4) 10 73 (16) (30) (26) – – (11) (13) (41) (39)

Siemens 1,846 2,599 198 123 177 57 1,471 2,419 230 196 418 419 2,118 3,034

1 � Profit of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is earnings before financing interest, certain pension costs and income taxes. Certain  
other items not considered performance indicative by Management may be excluded. Profit of SFS and SRE is Income before income taxes. Profit of Siemens is Income from continuing 
operations before income taxes. For a reconciliation of Income from continuing operations before income taxes to Net income see Consolidated Statements of Income.

2 � Includes impairments and reversals of impairments of investments accounted for using the equity method.
3 � Includes impairment of non-current available-for-sale financial assets. For Siemens, Financial income (expense), net comprises Interest income, Interest expense and Other financial 

income (expense), net as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
4  Adjusted EBIT is Income from continuing operations before income taxes less Financial income (expense), net and Income (loss) from investments accounted for using the equity method, net.

5  Amortization and impairments, net of reversals, of intangible assets other than goodwill.
6 � Depreciation and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals. Includes impairments of goodwill of €– million in the current period and €– million in the prior-year period, 

respectively.
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Liquidity, capital resources  
and requirements 

Cash flows 
The following discussion presents an analysis of our cash 
flows from operating, investing and financing activities for 
the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 for both continu-
ing and discontinued operations. Discontinued operations in-
clude primarily OSRAM and Siemens IT Solutions and Servic-
es, which were classified as discontinued operations during 
the second quarter of fiscal 2011. Prior-period results for our 
cash flows are reported on a comparable basis.

We report Free cash flow as a supplemental liquidity measure, 
which is defined as net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities less cash used for additions to intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment. We believe that the presenta-
tion of Free cash flow provides useful information to investors 
because it gives an indication of the long-term cash-generat-
ing ability of our business and our ability to pay for discretion-
ary and non-discretionary expenditures not included in the 
measure, such as dividends, debt repayment or acquisitions. 
We also use Free cash flow to compare cash generation among 
the segments of our business. Free cash flow should not be 
considered in isolation or as an alternative to measures of 
cash flow calculated in accordance with IFRS. For further in-
formation about the usefulness and limitations of this mea-
sure see  Notes and forward-looking statements at the end of 
this Interim group management report.

Cash flows from operating activities – Operating activities 
in continuing and discontinued operations used net cash of 
€734 million in the first three months of fiscal 2012, compared 
to net cash provided of €1.408 billion in the prior-year period. 

Within the total, continuing operations used net cash of €581 
million in the first three months of fiscal 2012, compared to net 
cash provided of €1.412 billion in the same period a year earlier. 
The change in cash flows from operating activities year-over-
year was due mainly to a substantial increase in trade and 
other receivables, especially in the Energy Sector. The current 
period also included cash outflows of €0.3 billion related to 
Healthcare’s particle therapy business. Furthermore the 
change in cash flows from operating activities year-over-year 
was due to a decline in Income from continuing operations.

Discontinued operations used net cash of €152 million in the 
first three months of fiscal 2012, compared to net cash used of 
€4 million in the prior-year period. The increase in cash out-
flows year-over-year related mainly to OSRAM, including net 
payments associated with contributions to pension plans, 
partly offset by lower cash outflows related to Siemens IT So-
lutions and Services. 

Cash flows from investing activities – Investing activities 
in continuing and discontinued operations used net cash 
of €1.586 billion in the first three months of fiscal 2012, com-
pared to net cash used of €171 million in the prior-year 
period. 

Cash flows 

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Continuing and 
discontinued operations

First three months of fiscal, First three months of fiscal, First three months of fiscal,

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Net cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities A (581) 1,412 (152) (4) (734) 1,408

Investing activities (1,473) (44) (113) (127) (1,586) (171)

  therein: �Additions to intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment B (447) (353) (38) (127) (485) (480)

  Free cash flow 1 A+B (1,029) 1,059 (190) (131) (1,219) 928

Financing activities (1,508) 100 265 131 (1,244) 231

1 � The closest comparable financial measure of Free cash flow under IFRS is the item Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
from continuing operations as well as from continuing and discontinued operations is reported in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow. The item Additions to intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment from discontinued operations is reconciled to the figures as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow in Note 16 in the Notes to Condensed 
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements. Other companies that report Free cash flow may define and calculate this measure differently.
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Within the total, net cash used in investing activities for con-
tinuing operations amounted to €1.473 billion in the first three 
months of fiscal 2012 compared to net cash used of €44 mil-
lion in the prior-year period. Higher cash outflows in the cur-
rent three months are due mainly to cash outflows of €1.009 
billion for the increase in receivables from financing activities 
in SFS’s capital business, associated with SFS’s growth strate-
gy. For comparison, the prior-year period included cash in-
flows of €92 million for the decrease in receivables from fi-
nancing activities. Higher acquisitions, net of cash acquired, 
of €264 million compared to €128 million in the prior-year pe-
riod included several acquisitions of entities within Total Sec-
tors to optimize our business portfolio. Proceeds of €355 mil-
lion from the sales of investments, intangibles and property, 
plant and equipment included the sale of a 25% interest in 
OAO Power Machines, held by the Energy Sector. In the first 
quarter a year earlier, proceeds from sales of investments, in-
tangibles and property, plant and equipment provided net 
cash of €564 million, including proceeds from real estate dis-
posals at SRE of €243 million and proceeds of €313 million 
from the sale of investments. The latter included a first install-
ment payment received in connection with the sale of our 
49% minority stake in Krauss-Maffei Wegmann GmbH & Co. KG. 
In the current quarter, cash outflows for the purchase of 
investments of €109 million included the second install-
ment  payment in connection with our equity investment in 
A2SEA A/S, a supplier of installation services for the construc-
tion of offshore wind farms. The equity investment is held by 
the Energy Sector. For comparison purchase of investments of 
€263 million in the prior-year period included cash outflows 
relating to the build-up of our solar thermal business and 
the  first installment payment for our equity investment in 
A2SEA A/S. 

Discontinued operations used net cash of €113 million in the 
first three months of fiscal 2012, compared to net cash used of 
€127 million in the prior-year period. These cash outflows re-
lated primarily to OSRAM. 

Free cash flow from continuing and discontinued operations 
amounted to a negative €1.219 billion in the first three months 
of fiscal 2012 compared to a positive €928 million in the prior-
year period. 

Total Free cash flow from continuing operations amounted to 
a negative €1.029 billion in the first three months of fiscal 
2012, compared to a positive €1.059 billion a year earlier. The 
change year-over-year was due primarily to a shift in cash 
flows from operating activities as discussed above. Cash used 
for additions to intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment increased from €353 million in the prior-year peri-
od to €447 million in the current three months, due to in-
creased investments within Total Sectors.

On a sequential basis, Free cash flow in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2012 and during fiscal 2011 was as follows: 

Free cash flow (in millions of €) 1

Q1 12 (1,029)

Q4 11 3,480

Q3 11 992

Q2 11 354

Q1 11 1,059

1 � Continuing operations

Cash flows from financing activities – Financing activities 
from continuing and discontinued operations used net cash 
of €1.244 billion in the first three months of fiscal 2012, com-
pared to net cash provided of €231 million in the prior-year 
three-month period. 

Within the total, continuing operations used net cash of 
€1.508 billion in the first three months of fiscal 2012, com-
pared to net cash provided of €100 million in the same period 
a year earlier. The cash outflows in the current quarter were 
due primarily to the repayment of long-term debt of €2.208 
billion relating to the redemption of €1.55 billion in 
5.25%-fixed-rate-instruments and €0.7 billion in floating rate 
assignable loans. These cash outflows were partly offset by 
cash inflows from the change in short-term debt and other fi-
nancing activities of €1.187 billion, due primarily to net cash 
inflows from the issuance of commercial paper. For compari-
son, the prior-year period included cash inflows of €206 mil-
lion from the change in short-term debt and other financing 
activities and €113 million proceeds from the issuance of long-
term debt. Both periods included cash outflows for financing 
of discontinued operations, which were €309 million in first 
quarter of fiscal 2012, compared to €133 million in the prior-
year period.
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Capital resources and requirements
Under the Debt Issuance Program, we issued fixed rated in-
struments with an aggregate amount of €3.4 billion compris-
ing three tranches in June 2008. In August 2008, we increased 
two tranches of the €3.4 billion instruments by €750 million. 
The first tranche, €1.55 billion in 5.25%-fixed-rate-instru-
ments, matured in December 2011 and was redeemed at face 
value.

In June 2008, we issued assignable loans. The loans, totaling 
€1.1 billion were issued in four tranches. Two floating rate 
tranches of €370 million, original maturity in June 2013, and 
€283.5 million, original maturity in June 2015, were called in 
August 2011 and were redeemed in December 2011 at face 
value.

We have a US$9.0 billion (€7.0 billion) global multi-currency 
commercial paper program in place. As of December 31, 2011, 
we had US$1.5 billion (€1.2 billion) in commercial paper out-
standing. 

A key consideration for us is maintenance of ready access to 
the capital markets through various debt products and preser-
vation of our ability to repay and service our debt obligation 
over time. 

The capital structure ratio is defined as the item Adjusted in-
dustrial net debt divided by the item Adjusted EBITDA (con-
tinuing operations). As of December 31, 2011 and September 
30, 2011 the ratios were as follows:

(in millions of €)
Dec. 31, Sept. 30,

2011 2011

Short-term debt and current maturities  
of long-term debt 1 2,841 3,660

Plus: Long-term debt 1 14,566 14,280

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (8,977) (12,468)

Less: �Current available-for-sale financial assets (478) (477)

Net debt 7,951 4,995

Less: SFS debt (13,424) (12,075)

Plus: �Pension plans and similar commitments 6,774 7,307

Plus: Credit guarantees 640 591

Less: �50% nominal amount hybrid bond 2 (899) (883)

Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment 3 (1,544) (1,470)

Adjusted industrial net debt (502) (1,534)

Adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations) 2,118 10,596

Adjusted industrial net debt / adjusted EBITDA 
(continuing operations) 4 (0.06) (0.14)

1 � The item Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt as well as the 
item Long-term debt included in total fair value hedge accounting adjustments of 
€1,544 million as of December 31, 2011 and €1,470 million as of September 30, 2011. 

2 � The adjustment for our hybrid bond considers the calculation of this financial ratio 
applied by rating agencies to classify 50% of our hybrid bond as equity and 50% as 
debt. This assignment reflects the characteristics of our hybrid bond such as a long 
maturity date and subordination to all senior and debt obligations.

3 � Debt is generally reported with a value representing approximately the amount  
to be repaid. However for debt designated in a hedging relationship (fair value 
hedges), this amount is adjusted by changes in market value mainly due to 
changes in interest rates. Accordingly we deduct these changes in market value  
in order to end up with an amount of debt that approximately will be repaid. We 
believe, this is a more meaningful figure for the calculation presented above. For 
further information on fair value hedges see  D.6 Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements in our Annual Report for fiscal 2011. 

4 � In order to calculate this ratio, adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations) needs to 
be annualized.
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The following discussion presents an analysis of changes in 
the item Adjusted industrial net debt in the first three months 
of fiscal 2012. 

The line item Adjusted industrial net debt was minus €502 
million as of December 31, 2011, compared to minus €1.534 
billion as of September 30, 2011. Within the line item Adjusted 
industrial net debt, the item Short-term debt and current ma-
turities of long-term debt decreased by €819 million compared 
to the end of the prior fiscal year, due mainly to the redemp-
tion of €1.55 billion in 5.25%-fixed-rate-instruments and of 
€0.7 billion floating rate assignable loans. This decline was 
partly offset by the issuance of commercial paper of €1.2 bil-
lion. Associated with SFS’s growth strategy, SFS debt in-
creased by €1.349 billion compared to the end of the prior fis-
cal year, including foreign currency effects. Pension plans and 
similar commitments decreased to €6.774 billion as of Decem-
ber 31, 2011 compared to €7.307 billion as of September 30, 
2011, reflecting the decrease in the underfunding of Siemens’ 
pension plans. For further information regarding the decrease 
in the item Cash and cash equivalents please see  Cash flows 
above. For further information on the decrease in the liability 
for pension plans and similar commitments see  Funding of 
pension plans and similar commitments. 

For further information on our capital resources and require-
ments as well as on our capital structure see  C4.2 Capital 
structure,  C.4.4 Capital resources and requirements and 

 D.6 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our An-
nual Report for fiscal 2011. For further information about the 
usefulness and limitations of Net debt, Adjusted industrial net 
debt and relating to the ratio of the item Adjusted industrial 
net debt to the item Adjusted EBITDA and its definition please 
see  Notes and forward-looking statements at the end of this 
Interim group management report. 

Funding of pension plans and similar commitments
Unless otherwise stated numbers presented below refer only 
to continuing operations. 

At the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2012, the combined 
funded status of Siemens’ pension plans showed an under-
funding of €5.7 billion, compared to an underfunding of €6.2 
billion at the end of fiscal 2011. The improvement in the funded 
status since September 30, 2011, is due mainly to a positive ac-
tual return on plan assets. This was partly offset by an increase 

in Siemens’ defined benefit obligation (DBO), which resulted 
from a decrease in the discount rate assumption as of Decem-
ber 31, 2011, and from accrued service and interest costs. The 
actual return on plan assets of Siemens’ funded pension plans 
for the first quarter of fiscal 2012 amounted to €1,089 million, 
resulting from both equity and fixed income investments. The 
expected return for the first three months amounted to €324 
million, which corresponds to a 6.3% annual return.

The fair value of Siemens’ funded pension plan assets as of 
December 31, 2011, was €22.2 billion compared to €21.0 billion 
on September 30, 2011. In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, em-
ployer contributions amounted to €253 million compared to 
€288 million in the prior-year period (which included amounts 
related to Siemens IT Solutions and Services and to OSRAM). 
In addition to the actual return on plan assets and employer 
contributions, the increase in plan assets was due also to a 
positive impact from currency translation effects. The afore-
mentioned positive effects were only partly offset by benefits 
paid during the quarter.

The estimated DBO of Siemens’ pension plans, which consid-
ers future compensation and pension increases, amounted to 
€27.9 billion on December 31, 2011, €0.8 billion higher than 
the DBO of €27.1 billion on September 30, 2011. The increase is 
due to a slight decrease in the discount rate assumption as of 
December 31, 2011, a negative impact from currency transla-
tion effects and to a minor extent due to the net of service and 
interest cost less benefits paid during the three-month period 
ended December 31, 2011.

Funded status of Siemens’ pension plans (in billions of €) 

December 31, 2011 (5.7)

September 30, 2011 (6.2)

The combined funded status of Siemens’ predominantly un-
funded other post-employment benefit plans amounted to an 
underfunding of €0.8 billion, both at the end of the first quar-
ter of fiscal 2012 and as of September 30, 2011.

For more information on Siemens’ pension plans and similar 
commitments, see  Note 9 in Notes to Condensed Interim 
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Report on risks and opportunities

Within the scope of its entrepreneurial activities and the vari-
ety of its operations, Siemens encounters numerous risks and 
opportunities which could negatively or positively affect busi-
ness development. For the early recognition and successful 
management of relevant risks and opportunities we employ a 
number of coordinated risk management and control sys-
tems. Risk management facilitates the sustainable protection 
of our future corporate success and is an integral part of all 
our decisions and business processes.

In our Annual Report for fiscal 2011 we described certain risks 
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, including effects on assets, liabilities and cash 
flows, and results of operations, certain opportunities as well 
as the design of our risk management system.

As previously disclosed, business with customers in Iran is 
subject to export control regulations, embargoes, sanctions or 
other forms of trade restrictions imposed by the U.S., the Eu-
ropean Union and other countries or organizations. The regu-
latory limitations have recently been further tightened by Ex-
ecutive Order 13590 issued by President Obama targeting 
Iran’s petroleum and petrochemical sectors and by a new Eu-
ropean Union sanctions regime against Iran based on Council 
Regulation (EU) No. 961 / 2010 of October 25, 2010 on restric-
tive measures against Iran and repealing Regulation (EC) No. 
423 / 2007, which was extended by Council Implementing Reg-
ulation (EU) No. 1245 / 2011 of December 2, 2011. Siemens has 
adopted internal restrictive policies on the conduct of busi-
ness with Iran, which we continually review and have recent-
ly tightened, as described in more detail in  Results of 
Siemens. Under certain limited circumstances, however, we 
continue to conduct certain business activities and provide 
products and services to customers in Iran. We believe that 
such activities to date have not had a material adverse impact 
on our reputation and share value. Going forward, divestment 
or similar initiatives adopted or proposed in various jurisdic-
tions with respect to Iran, as well as new or tightened export 
control regulations, sanctions, embargos or other forms of 
trade restrictions imposed on Iran, may result in a further 

curtailment of our existing business in Iran or in a further ad-
aptation of our policies. In addition, the termination of our 
activities in Iran may expose us to customer claims and other 
actions. 

We have previously disclosed that our business, financial con-
dition and results of operations may be adversely affected by 
cost overruns or additional payment obligations related to the 
management of our long-term, fixed price or turnkey projects. 
Since we operate globally and perform projects in various 
complex political and regulatory environments there is a risk 
that our project business may be impacted by relevant politi-
cal and regulatory environments and potential political and 
regulatory changes that occur during the term of projects 
which in turn may impact our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

Furthermore we have previously disclosed that our business, 
financial condition and results of operations may be adversely 
affected by portfolio measures. For example, we may be ex-
posed to the risk that the fair value of the 12.5 million shares 
in AtoS, received in connection with the divestments of 
Siemens IT Solutions and Services, declines to below acquisi-
tion cost. As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of these 
shares was €60 million below acquisition cost. If there is ob-
jective evidence that the decline in the fair value is significant 
or prolonged, an impairment loss has to be recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. 

During the first three months of fiscal 2012 we identified no 
further significant risks and opportunities besides those pre-
sented in our Annual Report for fiscal 2011 and in the sections 
of this Interim Report entitled  Overview of financial results 
for the first quarter of fiscal 2012,  Segment information 
analysis, and  Legal proceedings. Additional risks not known 
to us or that we currently consider immaterial could also im-
pair our business operations. We do not expect to incur any 
risks that alone or in combination would appear to jeopardize 
the continuity of our business.

We refer also to  Notes and forward-looking statements at 
the end of this Interim group management report.
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Legal proceedings

For information on legal proceedings, see  Notes to Con-
densed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.

Outlook for fiscal 2012

For our outlook for fiscal 2012, see our Annual Report 2011.
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Notes and forward-looking statements

New orders and order backlog; adjusted or organic growth rates of revenue and new orders; book-to-bill ratio; Total Sectors prof-
it; return on equity (after tax), or ROE (after tax); return on capital employed (adjusted), or ROCE (adjusted); Free cash flow, or 
FCF; cash conversion rate, or CCR; adjusted EBITDA; adjusted EBIT; adjusted EBITDA margins, earnings effects from purchase 
price allocation, or PPA effects; net debt and adjusted industrial net debt are or may be non-GAAP financial measures. These 
supplemental financial measures should not be viewed in isolation as alternatives to measures of Siemens’ financial condition, 
results of operations or cash flows as presented in accordance with IFRS in its Consolidated Financial Statements. Other compa-
nies that report or describe similarly titled financial measures may calculate them differently. Definitions of these supplemental 
financial measures, a discussion of the most directly comparable IFRS financial measures, information regarding the usefulness 
of Siemens’ supplemental financial measures, the limitations associated with these measures and reconciliations to the most 
comparable IFRS financial measures are available on Siemens’ Investor Relations website at www.siemens.com/nonGAAP. For 
additional information, see supplemental financial measures and the related discussion in Siemens’ annual report on Form 20-F 
for fiscal 2011, which can be found on our Investor Relations website or via the EDGAR system on the website of the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission.

This document contains forward-looking statements and information – that is, statements related to future, not past, events. 
These statements may be identified by words such as “expects,” “looks forward to,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” 
“seeks,” “estimates,” “will,” “project” or words of similar meaning. Such statements are based on the current expectations and 
certain assumptions of Siemens’ management, and are, therefore, subject to certain risks and uncertainties. A variety of factors, 
many of which are beyond Siemens’ control, affect Siemens’ operations, performance, business strategy and results and could 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Siemens to be materially different from any future results, perfor-
mance or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. In particular, Siemens is strong-
ly affected by changes in general economic and business conditions as these directly impact its processes, customers and sup-
pliers. This may negatively impact our revenue development and the realization of greater capacity utilization as a result of 
growth. Yet due to their diversity, not all of Siemens’ businesses are equally affected by changes in economic conditions; con-
siderable differences exist in the timing and magnitude of the effects of such changes. This effect is amplified by the fact that, 
as a global company, Siemens is active in countries with economies that vary widely in terms of growth rate. Uncertainties arise 
from, among other things, the risk of customers delaying the conversion of recognized orders into revenue or cancelling recog-
nized orders, of prices declining or expenditures increasing as a result of adverse market conditions by more than is currently 
anticipated by Siemens’ management or of functional costs increasing in anticipation of growth that is not realized as expected. 
Other factors that may cause Siemens’ results to deviate from expectations include developments in the financial markets, in-
cluding fluctuations in interest and exchange rates (in particular in relation to the US$, British £ and the currencies of emerging 
markets such as China, India and Brazil), in commodity and equity prices, in debt prices (credit spreads) and in the value of fi-
nancial assets generally. Any changes in interest rates or other assumptions used in calculating obligations for pension plans 
and similar commitments may impact Siemens’ defined benefit obligations and the anticipated performance of pension plan as-
sets resulting in unexpected changes in the funded status of Siemens’ pension and other post-employment benefit plans. Any 
increase in market volatility, deterioration in the capital markets, decline in the conditions for the credit business, uncertainty 
related to the subprime, financial market and liquidity crises, including the sovereign debt crisis in the Eurozone, or fluctua-
tions in the future financial performance of the major industries served by Siemens may have unexpected effects on Siemens’ 
results. Furthermore, Siemens faces risks and uncertainties in connection with: disposing of business activities, certain strate-
gic reorientation measures, including reorganization measures relating to its segments; the performance of its equity interests 
and strategic alliances; the challenge of integrating major acquisitions, implementing joint ventures and other significant port-
folio measures; the performance, measurement criteria and composition of its Environmental Portfolio; the introduction of 
competing products or technologies by other companies or market entries by new competitors; changing competitive dynamics 
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(particularly in developing markets); the risk that new products or services will not be accepted by customers targeted by 
Siemens or that there may be delays in the delivery of new products and services due to unexpected technical difficulties; 
changes in business strategy; the interruption of our supply chain, including the inability of third parties to deliver parts, com-
ponents and services on time resulting for example from natural disasters; the outcome of pending investigations, legal pro-
ceedings and actions resulting from the findings of, or related to the subject matter of, such investigations; the potential impact 
of such investigations and proceedings on Siemens’ business, including its relationships with governments and other custom-
ers; the potential impact of such matters on Siemens’ financial statements, and various other factors. More detailed information 
about certain of the risk factors affecting Siemens is contained throughout this report and in Siemens’ other filings with the 
SEC, which are available on the Siemens website, www.siemens.com, and on the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov. Should one or 
more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary ma-
terially from those described in the relevant forward-looking statement as expected, anticipated, intended, planned, believed, 
sought, estimated or projected. Siemens neither intends to, nor assumes any obligation to, update or revise these forward-look-
ing statements in light of developments which differ from those anticipated.

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this and other documents may not add up precisely to the totals provided and 
percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.
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Consolidated Statements of Income (unaudited)

For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(in millions of €, per share amounts in €) Note 2012 2011

Revenue 17,902 17,603

Cost of goods sold and services rendered (12,820) (11,955)

Gross profit 5,082 5,648

Research and development expenses (986) (864)

Marketing, selling and general administrative expenses (2,638) (2,411)

Other operating income 3 114 260

Other operating expense 4 (101) (214)

Income from investments accounted for using the equity method, net 198 123

Interest income 5 562 548

Interest expense 5 (433) (419)

Other financial income (expense), net 5 48 (72)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 1,846 2,599

Income taxes (490) (753)

Income from continuing operations 1,356 1,846

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 2 101 (93)

Net income 1,457 1,753

  Attributable to:

    Non-controlling interests 18 35

    Shareholders of Siemens AG 1,440 1,718

Basic earnings per share 15

Income from continuing operations 1.53 2.07

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.11 (0.10)

Net income 1.64 1.97

Diluted earnings per share 15

Income from continuing operations 1.52 2.05

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.11 (0.10)

Net income 1.63 1.95

 The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (unaudited)

For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(in millions of €) 2012 2011

Net income 1,457 1,753

  Currency translation differences 559 377

  Available-for-sale financial assets (56) 15

  Derivative financial instruments (73) (56)

  Actuarial gains and losses on pension plans and similar commitments 332 797

 O ther comprehensive income, net of tax 1 762 1,133

Total comprehensive income 2,219 2,886

  Attributable to:

    Non-controlling interests 28 50

    Shareholders of Siemens AG 2,191 2,836

1 � Includes income (expense) resulting from investments accounted for using the equity method of €(31) million and €15 million, respectively,  
for the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As of December 31, 2011 (unaudited) and September 30, 2011

(in millions of €) Note 12/31/2011 09/30/2011

Assets

Current assets

  Cash and cash equivalents 8,977 12,468

  Available-for-sale financial assets 478 477

  Trade and other receivables 16,104 14,847

  Other current financial assets 3,114 2,899

  Inventories 16,233 15,143

  Income tax receivables 766 798

  Other current assets 1,343 1,264

  Assets classified as held for disposal 2 4,990 4,917

Total current assets 52,005 52,813

Goodwill 6 16,374 15,706

Other intangible assets 7 4,526 4,444

Property, plant and equipment 10,664 10,477

Investments accounted for using the equity method 5,092 4,966

Other financial assets 13,248 11,855

Deferred tax assets 3,215 3,206

Other assets 734 776

Total assets 105,858 104,243

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

  Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 2,841 3,660

  Trade payables 7,187 7,677

  Other current financial liabilities 2,223 2,247

  Current provisions 5,126 5,168

  Income tax payables 2,198 2,032

  Other current liabilities 21,738 21,020

  Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal 2 1,669 1,756

Total current liabilities 42,982 43,560

Long-term debt 14,566 14,280

Pension plans and similar commitments 9 6,774 7,307

Deferred tax liabilities 596 595

Provisions 3,771 3,654

Other financial liabilities 1,270 824

Other liabilities 1,952 1,867

Total liabilities 71,911 72,087

Equity 11

  Common stock, no par value 1 2,743 2,743

  Additional paid-in capital 5,975 6,011

  Retained earnings 27,121 25,881

  Other components of equity 352 (68)

  Treasury shares, at cost 2 (2,885) (3,037)

Total equity attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG 33,306 31,530

  Non-controlling interests 641 626

Total equity 33,947 32,156

Total liabilities and equity 105,858 104,243

1 � Authorized: 1,117,803,421 and 1,117,803,421 shares, respectively. Issued: 914,203,421 and 914,203,421 shares, respectively.
2 � 37,947,154 and 39,952,074 shares, respectively.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow (unaudited)

For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

(in millions of €) 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Income from continuing operations 1,356 1,846
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided
    Amortization, depreciation and impairments 648 615
    Income taxes 490 753
    Interest (income) expense, net (129) (129)
    (Gains) losses on sales and disposals of businesses, intangibles and property, plant and equipment, net (12) (76)
    (Gains) losses on sales of investments, net 1 (176) (8)
    (Gains) losses on sales and impairments of current available-for-sale financial assets, net – (1)

    (Income) losses from investments 1 (116) (121)
    Other non-cash (income) expenses (96) (54)
    Change in assets and liabilities
      (Increase) decrease in inventories (785) (597)
      (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (899) (210)
      Increase (decrease) in trade payables (666) (453)
      Change in other assets and liabilities (88) 137
    Additions to assets held for rental in operating leases (101) (114)
    Income taxes paid (233) (362)
    Dividends received 8 8
    Interest received 219 178
 N et cash provided by (used in) operating activities – continuing operations (581) 1,412
  Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities – discontinued operations (152) (4)
 N et cash provided by (used in) operating activities – continuing and discontinued operations (734) 1,408
Cash flows from investing activities
  Additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (447) (353)
  Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (264) (128)
  Purchases of investments 1 (109) (263)
  Purchases of current available-for-sale financial assets (8) (1)
  (Increase) decrease in receivables from financing activities (1,009) 92
  Proceeds and (payments) from sales of investments, intangibles and property, plant and equipment 1 355 564
  Proceeds and (payments) from disposals of businesses (1) 38
  Proceeds from sales of current available-for-sale financial assets 9 7
 N et cash provided by (used in) investing activities – continuing operations (1,473) (44)
  Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities – discontinued operations (113) (127)
 N et cash provided by (used in) investing activities – continuing and discontinued operations (1,586) (171)
Cash flows from financing activities
 � Proceeds from re-issuance of treasury stock and proceeds (payments) relating to other transactions with owners 14 81
  Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt – 113
  Repayment of long-term debt (including current maturities of long-term debt) (2,208) (12)
  Change in short-term debt and other financing activities 1,187 206
  Interest paid (169) (139)
  Dividends paid to non-controlling interest holders (25) (16)
  Financing discontinued operations 2 (309) (133)
 N et cash provided by (used in) financing activities – continuing operations (1,508) 100
  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities – discontinued operations 265 131
 N et cash provided by (used in) financing activities – continuing and discontinued operations (1,244) 231
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 70 51

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,494) 1,519

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 12,512 14,227

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 9,018 15,746

Less: �Cash and cash equivalents of assets classified as held for disposal and discontinued operations at end of period 41 84
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Consolidated Statements of Financial Position) 8,977 15,662

1  �Investments include equity instruments either classified as non-current available-for-sale financial assets, accounted for using the equity method or classified as held for disposal.  
Purchases of investments includes certain loans to investments accounted for using the equity method.

2 � Discontinued operations are financed principally through Corporate Treasury. The item Financing discontinued operations includes these intercompany financing transactions.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (unaudited)

For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Total comprehensive income

Other components of equity

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Currency
translation
differences

Available-for-sale
financial assets

Derivative
financial

instruments

Total Treasury
shares
at cost

Total equity
attributable

to shareholders
of Siemens AG

Non-
controlling

interests

Total 
equity

(in millions of €)

Balance at October 1, 2010 2,743 5,986 22,998 (115) 95 12 22,990 (3,373) 28,346 750 29,096

Net income – – 1,718 – – – 1,718 – 1,718 35 1,753

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – 7971 361 15 (55) 1,118 – 1,118 15 1,1332

Dividends – – – – – – – – – (27) (27)

Share-based payment – (89) (10) – – – (10) – (99) – (99)

Re-issuance of treasury stock – 2 – – – – – 205 207 – 207

Other changes in equity – – 2 – – – 2 – 2 (8) (6)

Balance at December 31, 2010 2,743 5,899 25,505 246 110 (43) 25,818 (3,168) 31,292 765 32,057

Balance at October 1, 2011 2,743 6,011 25,881 2 36 (106) 25,813 (3,037) 31,530 626 32,156

Net income – – 1,440 – – – 1,440 – 1,440 18 1,457

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – 3321 548 (56) (72) 752 – 752 10 7622

Dividends – – – – – – – – – (22) (22)

Share-based payment – (36) (69) – – – (69) – (105) – (105)

Re-issuance of treasury stock – (1) – – – – – 152 152 – 152

Tansactions with non-controlling interests – – (465) – – – (465) – (465) 8 (457)

Other changes in equity – – 3 – – – 3 – 3 1 4

Balance at December 31, 2011 2,743 5,975 27,121 550 (20) (177) 27,474 (2,885) 33,306 641 33,947

1 � Retained earnings includes actuarial gains and losses on pension plans and similar commitments of €332 million and €797 million, respectively, in the three months ended  
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

2 � In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, other comprehensive income, net of tax, includes non-controlling interests of €– million and €– million relating to actuarial gains 
and losses on pension plans and similar commitments, €11 million and €16 million relating to currency translation differences, €– million and €– million relating to available-for-sale 
financial assets and €(1) million and €(1) million relating to derivative financial instruments.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Total comprehensive income

Other components of equity

Common
stock

Additional
paid-in
capital

Retained
earnings

Currency
translation
differences

Available-for-sale
financial assets

Derivative
financial

instruments

Total Treasury
shares
at cost

Total equity
attributable

to shareholders
of Siemens AG

Non-
controlling

interests

Total 
equity

(in millions of €)

Balance at October 1, 2010 2,743 5,986 22,998 (115) 95 12 22,990 (3,373) 28,346 750 29,096

Net income – – 1,718 – – – 1,718 – 1,718 35 1,753

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – 7971 361 15 (55) 1,118 – 1,118 15 1,1332

Dividends – – – – – – – – – (27) (27)

Share-based payment – (89) (10) – – – (10) – (99) – (99)

Re-issuance of treasury stock – 2 – – – – – 205 207 – 207

Other changes in equity – – 2 – – – 2 – 2 (8) (6)

Balance at December 31, 2010 2,743 5,899 25,505 246 110 (43) 25,818 (3,168) 31,292 765 32,057

Balance at October 1, 2011 2,743 6,011 25,881 2 36 (106) 25,813 (3,037) 31,530 626 32,156

Net income – – 1,440 – – – 1,440 – 1,440 18 1,457

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – – 3321 548 (56) (72) 752 – 752 10 7622

Dividends – – – – – – – – – (22) (22)

Share-based payment – (36) (69) – – – (69) – (105) – (105)

Re-issuance of treasury stock – (1) – – – – – 152 152 – 152

Tansactions with non-controlling interests – – (465) – – – (465) – (465) 8 (457)

Other changes in equity – – 3 – – – 3 – 3 1 4

Balance at December 31, 2011 2,743 5,975 27,121 550 (20) (177) 27,474 (2,885) 33,306 641 33,947

1 � Retained earnings includes actuarial gains and losses on pension plans and similar commitments of €332 million and €797 million, respectively, in the three months ended  
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

2 � In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, other comprehensive income, net of tax, includes non-controlling interests of €– million and €– million relating to actuarial gains 
and losses on pension plans and similar commitments, €11 million and €16 million relating to currency translation differences, €– million and €– million relating to available-for-sale 
financial assets and €(1) million and €(1) million relating to derivative financial instruments.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Condensed Interim  
Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (continuing operations – unaudited)

As of and for the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and as of September 30, 2011

New orders 2 External revenue Intersegment revenue Total revenue Profit  3 Assets 4 Free cash flow 5 Additions to intangible  
assets and property, plant  

and equipment

Amortization,  
depreciation and  

impairments 6

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 12/31/2011 09/30/2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Sectors 1

  Energy 7,182 8,090 6,123 5,655 52 69 6,176 5,723 481 753 432 656 97 695 100 82 108 102

  Healthcare 3,284 3,168 3,140 3,117 11 18 3,152 3,135 364 381 12,164 11,264 (156) 238 98 55 205 163

  Industry 4,901 4,993 4,345 4,195 358 291 4,702 4,486 556 641 6,760 6,001 78 341 76 62 137 136

  Infrastructure & Cities 4,679 4,962 3,881 4,035 174 150 4,055 4,184 200 313 3,572 3,169 (147) 214 53 48 64 65

Total Sectors 20,046 21,214 17,489 17,001 595 527 18,085 17,528 1,601 2,088 22,928 21,090 (128) 1,489 326 247 515 466

Equity Investments – – – – – – – – 75 85 3,388 3,382 2 – – – – –

Financial Services (SFS) 197 224 176 201 21 23 197 224 199 102 16,126 14,602 55 99 6 9 59 79

Reconciliation to  
Consolidated Financial Statements

  Centrally managed portfolio activities 72 215 75 222 2 5 78 227 – (1) (394) (397) (14) (50) 1 3 1 3

  Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 554 516 83 106 484 412 567 518 5 97 5,166 4,974 (80) (34) 82 83 68 66

  Corporate items and pensions 136 121 78 72 43 37 121 109 (74) 259 (9,093) (9,806) (441) (343) 32 11 15 14

 � Eliminations, Corporate Treasury  
and other reconciling items (1,195) (1,453) – – (1,146) (1,004) (1,146) (1,004) 39 (32) 67,735 70,398 (423) (101) – (1) (11) (13)

Siemens 19,809 20,837 17,902 17,603 – – 17,902 17,603 1,846 2,599 105,858 104,243 (1,029) 1,059 447 353 648 615

1 � Commencing with fiscal 2012, Sector Infrastructure & Cities was implemented. Prior period information has been recast to conform to the fiscal 2012 presentation. 
2 � This supplementary information on New orders is provided on a voluntary basis. It is not part of the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements subject to the review opinion. 
3 � Profit of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is earnings before financing interest, certain pension costs and income taxes.  

Certain other items not considered performance indicative by Management may be excluded. Profit of SFS and SRE is Income before income taxes.
4 � Assets of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is defined as Total assets less income tax assets, less non-interest bearing liabilities  

other than tax liabilities. Assets of SFS and SRE is Total assets.
5 � Free cash flow represents net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Free cash flow of the Sectors,  

Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities primarily exclude income tax, financing interest and certain pension related payments and proceeds. Free cash flow  
of SFS, a financial services business, and of SRE includes related financing interest payments and proceeds; income tax payments and proceeds of SFS and SRE are excluded.

6 � Amortization, depreciation and impairments contains amortization and impairments, net of reversals of impairments, of intangible assets other than goodwill as well as depreciation  
and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals of impairments. 
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As of and for the first three months of fiscal 2012 and 2011 ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and as of September 30, 2011

New orders 2 External revenue Intersegment revenue Total revenue Profit  3 Assets 4 Free cash flow 5 Additions to intangible  
assets and property, plant  

and equipment

Amortization,  
depreciation and  

impairments 6

(in millions of €) 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 12/31/2011 09/30/2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Sectors 1

  Energy 7,182 8,090 6,123 5,655 52 69 6,176 5,723 481 753 432 656 97 695 100 82 108 102

  Healthcare 3,284 3,168 3,140 3,117 11 18 3,152 3,135 364 381 12,164 11,264 (156) 238 98 55 205 163

  Industry 4,901 4,993 4,345 4,195 358 291 4,702 4,486 556 641 6,760 6,001 78 341 76 62 137 136

  Infrastructure & Cities 4,679 4,962 3,881 4,035 174 150 4,055 4,184 200 313 3,572 3,169 (147) 214 53 48 64 65

Total Sectors 20,046 21,214 17,489 17,001 595 527 18,085 17,528 1,601 2,088 22,928 21,090 (128) 1,489 326 247 515 466

Equity Investments – – – – – – – – 75 85 3,388 3,382 2 – – – – –

Financial Services (SFS) 197 224 176 201 21 23 197 224 199 102 16,126 14,602 55 99 6 9 59 79

Reconciliation to  
Consolidated Financial Statements

  Centrally managed portfolio activities 72 215 75 222 2 5 78 227 – (1) (394) (397) (14) (50) 1 3 1 3

  Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 554 516 83 106 484 412 567 518 5 97 5,166 4,974 (80) (34) 82 83 68 66

  Corporate items and pensions 136 121 78 72 43 37 121 109 (74) 259 (9,093) (9,806) (441) (343) 32 11 15 14

 � Eliminations, Corporate Treasury  
and other reconciling items (1,195) (1,453) – – (1,146) (1,004) (1,146) (1,004) 39 (32) 67,735 70,398 (423) (101) – (1) (11) (13)

Siemens 19,809 20,837 17,902 17,603 – – 17,902 17,603 1,846 2,599 105,858 104,243 (1,029) 1,059 447 353 648 615

1 � Commencing with fiscal 2012, Sector Infrastructure & Cities was implemented. Prior period information has been recast to conform to the fiscal 2012 presentation. 
2 � This supplementary information on New orders is provided on a voluntary basis. It is not part of the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements subject to the review opinion. 
3 � Profit of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is earnings before financing interest, certain pension costs and income taxes.  

Certain other items not considered performance indicative by Management may be excluded. Profit of SFS and SRE is Income before income taxes.
4 � Assets of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities is defined as Total assets less income tax assets, less non-interest bearing liabilities  

other than tax liabilities. Assets of SFS and SRE is Total assets.
5 � Free cash flow represents net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Free cash flow of the Sectors,  

Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio activities primarily exclude income tax, financing interest and certain pension related payments and proceeds. Free cash flow  
of SFS, a financial services business, and of SRE includes related financing interest payments and proceeds; income tax payments and proceeds of SFS and SRE are excluded.

6 � Amortization, depreciation and impairments contains amortization and impairments, net of reversals of impairments, of intangible assets other than goodwill as well as depreciation  
and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals of impairments. 
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Financial statement presentation – Information disclosed 
in the Notes relates to Siemens unless stated otherwise.

Basis of consolidation – The Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements include the accounts of Siemens AG and its sub-
sidiaries, which are directly or indirectly controlled. Control is 
generally conveyed by ownership of the majority of voting 
rights. Additionally, the Company consolidates special pur-
pose entities (SPEs) when, based on the evaluation of the 
substance of the relationship with Siemens, the Company 
concludes that it controls the SPE. To determine when the 
Company should consolidate based on substance, Siemens 
considers the circumstances listed in SIC-12.10 as additional 
indicators regarding a relationship in which Siemens controls 
an SPE. Siemens looks at these SIC-12.10 circumstances as in-
dicators and always privileges an analysis of individual facts 
and circumstances on a case-by-case basis. Associated com-
panies – companies in which Siemens has the ability to exer-
cise significant influence over operating and financial policies 
(generally through direct or indirect ownership of 20% to 50% 
of the voting rights) – are recorded in the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements using the equity method of accounting. Com-
panies in which Siemens has joint control are also accounted 
for under the equity method.

Business combinations – Business combinations are ac-
counted for under the acquisition method. Siemens as the ac-
quirer and the acquiree may have a relationship that existed 
before they contemplated the business combination, referred 
to as a pre-existing relationship. If the business combination 
in effect settles a pre-existing relationship, Siemens as the ac-
quirer recognizes a gain or loss for the pre-existing relation-
ship. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value 
of the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
date of exchange. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in 
the period incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination (including contingent lia-
bilities) are measured initially at their fair values at the acqui-
sition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling 
interest. Uniform accounting policies are applied. Any subse-
quent changes to contingent consideration classified as a lia-
bility at the acquisition date are recognized in profit and loss. 
Non-controlling interests may be measured at their fair value 
(full goodwill approach) or at the proportional fair value of as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed (partial goodwill ap-
proach). After initial recognition, non-controlling interests 

1 – Basis of presentation

The accompanying Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements (Interim Consolidated Financial Statements) pres-
ent the operations of Siemens AG and its subsidiaries (the 
Company or Siemens). The Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpreta-
tions issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), as adopted by the European Union (EU). The Interim 
Consolidated Financial Statements also comply with IFRS as 
issued by the IASB. 

Siemens prepares and reports its Interim Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements in euros (€). Due to rounding, numbers pre-
sented may not add up precisely to totals provided. Siemens is 
a German based multinational corporation with a business 
portfolio of activities predominantly in the fields of electron-
ics and electrical engineering.

Interim Consolidated Financial Statements – The accompa-
nying Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of De-
cember 31, 2011, the Consolidated Statements of Income for 
the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the 
three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Consoli-
dated Statements of Cash Flow for the three months ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Consolidated Statements of 
Changes in Equity for the three months ended December 31, 
2011 and 2010 and the explanatory Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements are unaudited and have been prepared 
for interim financial information. These Interim Consolidated 
Financial Statements are condensed and prepared in compli-
ance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34, Interim 
Financial Reporting, and shall be read in connection with 
Siemens’ Annual IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements as of 
September 30, 2011. The interim financial statements apply 
the same accounting principles and practices as those used in 
the 2011 annual financial statements. In the opinion of man-
agement, these unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements include all adjustments of a normal and recurring 
nature necessary for a fair presentation of results for the in-
terim periods. Results for the three months ended December 
31, 2011, are not necessarily indicative of future results. The 
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized 
for issue by the Managing Board on January 27, 2012.
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may show a deficit balance since both profits and losses are 
allocated to the shareholders based on their equity interests. 
In business combinations achieved in stages, any previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its acqui-
sition date fair value. If there is no loss of control, transac-
tions with non-controlling interests are accounted for as equi-
ty transactions not affecting profit and loss. At the date con-
trol is lost, any retained equity interests are re-measured to 
fair value. In case of a written put on non-controlling interests 
the Company distinguishes whether the prerequisites for the 
transfer of present ownership interest are fulfilled at the bal-
ance sheet date. Provided that the Company is not the benefi-
cial owner of the shares underlying the put option, the exer-
cise of the put option will be assumed at each balance sheet 
date and treated as equity transaction between shareholders 
with the recognition of a purchase liability at the respective 
exercise price. The non-controlling interests participate in 
profits and losses during the reporting period.

Use of estimates – The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent amounts at the date of the financial 
statements as well as reported amounts of revenues and ex-
penses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Income taxes – In interim periods, tax expense is based on 
the current estimated annual effective tax rate of Siemens. 

Reclassification – The presentation of certain prior-year in-
formation, amongst others the presentation of certain line 
items within operating activities of the Consolidated State-
ment of Cash Flow, has been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation.

Recent accounting pronouncements, not yet adopted – In 
the three months ended December 31, 2011, the IASB issued 
amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) that de-
fer the mandatory effective date from January 1, 2013 to Janu-
ary 1, 2015 (early application is still permitted). The amend-
ment also provides relief from restating comparative financial 
statements for the effect of applying IFRS 9; instead additional 
transition disclosures will be required.

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32, 
Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7, Financial In-
struments: Disclosures regarding offsetting of financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The amendment to IAS 32 clarifies the 
existing offsetting rules and is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2014, early application is per-
mitted, however it requires the application of the amend-
ments to IFRS 7. These amendments to IFRS 7 expand the dis-
closure requirements for financial assets and financial liabili-
ties offset in the statements of financial position including 
netting agreements where netting is subject to certain future 
events, e.g. the default of the counterparty, which generally 
do not qualify for offsetting in the statements of financial po-
sition. This amendment is effective for reporting periods be-
ginning on or after January 1, 2013. Both amendments have 
not yet been endorsed by the European Union. 

The Company expects no material impact on the Company ’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements as a result of adopting 
these amendments. 

The IASB issued various other pronouncements, which do not 
have a material impact on Siemens’ Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

2 – Acquisitions, dispositions  
and discontinued operations

a) A cquisitions
For information on acquisitions prior to fiscal 2012 see  Note 4 
Acquisitions, dispositions and discontinued operations of the 
Notes to the Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as 
of September 30, 2011.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, Siemens completed the 
acquisition of a number of entities which are not significant 
either individually or in aggregate.
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b) D ispositions and discontinued operations

ba) D ispositions not qualifying for discontinued 
operations: closed transactions

Dispositions in fiscal 2012
In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, Siemens completed the dis-
position of a number of entities which are not significant ei-
ther individually or in aggregate.

Dispositions in fiscal 2011
In January 2009, Siemens had announced that it will termi-
nate the Shareholders Agreement of the joint venture Areva 
NP S.A.S. and sell its 34% interest in Areva NP S.A.S. to the ma-
jority shareholder Areva S.A. (Areva) by exercising the put op-
tion. Following this, Areva NP S.A.S. had been presented as 
asset held for disposal since the second quarter of fiscal 2009 
with a carrying amount of €190 million. In March 2011, an in-
dependent expert, appointed by Siemens and Areva based on 
the rules set forth in the shareholders’ agreement, deter-
mined the fair market value (purchase price) of Siemens’ 34% 
share in the joint venture Areva NP S.A.S. Following this, the 
shares, previously accounted for as an available-for-sale finan-
cial asset held for disposal at the Energy Sector, were trans-
ferred to Areva and derecognized at Siemens. In May 2011, an 
arbitral tribunal of the International Chamber of Commerce 
ruled on the modalities of Siemens’ exit from the joint ven-
ture Areva NP S.A.S. For further information on the earnings 
impact from the sale of Areva NP S.A.S. and the arbitration 
proceedings, see  Note 4 Acquisitions, dispositions and dis-
continued operations,  Note 9 Interest income, interest ex-
pense and other financial income (expense), net and  Note 30 
Legal proceedings of the Notes to the Company ’s Consolidat-
ed Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011. 

For information on further dispositions prior to fiscal 2012, 
which were held for disposal as of December 31, 2010, see 
Note 4 Acquisitions, dispositions and discontinued operations 
of the Notes to the Company ’s Consolidated Financial State-
ments as of September 30, 2011; in particular for the disposal 
of Krauss-Maffei Wegmann GmbH & Co. KG, the Electronics 
Assembly Systems business and the 19.8% stake in GIG Hold-
ing GmbH. 

bb) D ispositions not qualifying  
for discontinued operations: held for disposal
The Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of De-
cember 31, 2011, include assets held for disposal of €21 million 
and liabilities held for disposal of € – million, that do not qual-
ify as discontinued operations. 

bc) D iscontinued operations
General
Siemens reports in this section about discontinued operations 
separately. The disclosures in the Notes to the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements outside this section relate to continuing 
operations unless indicated otherwise. Net results of discon-
tinued operations presented in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income for the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 amount to €101 million (thereof €(50) million income tax) 
and €(93) million (thereof €(41) million income tax), respec-
tively. Net results of discontinued operations for the periods 
presented relate to OSRAM, Siemens IT Solutions and Services 
and the former operating segment Communications (Com). 

Net income from continuing operations and from discontin-
ued operations attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG for 
the three months ended December 31, 2011 (2010) amount to 
€1,342 million and €98 million (€1,806 million and €(88) mil-
lion). 

OSRAM – discontinued operations, assets  
and liabilities held for disposal
In March 2011, Siemens announced that it plans to publicly 
list its subsidiary OSRAM AG. Siemens intends to retain a mi-
nority stake in OSRAM, in which it will remain a long-term an-
chor shareholder. In September 2011 Siemens postponed the 
timing of the listing depending on the stabilization of the 
market conditions but continues to deem the listing highly 
probable within the next twelve months. The conditions for 
OSRAM to be classified as held for disposal and discontinued 
operations were fulfilled as of the end of the second quarter 
of fiscal 2011. For information regarding classification and 
measurement of assets (or disposal groups) held for disposal 
and discontinued operations see  Note 2 Summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies of the Notes to the Company ’s Con-
solidated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011.
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The results of OSRAM are disclosed as discontinued opera-
tions in the Company ’s Consolidated Statements of Income 
for all periods presented:

Three months ended 
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Revenue 1,375 1,284

Expenses (1,189) (1,118)

Costs to sell (carve-out costs) (13) –

Pretax income from  
discontinued operations  173      166

Income taxes on ordinary activities (59) (55)

Income taxes on costs to sell (carve-out costs)     1 –

Income from discontinued operations,  
net of income taxes 115 111

The assets and liabilities of OSRAM are presented as held for 
disposal in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
as of December 31, 2011. The carrying amounts of the major 
classes of assets and liabilities of OSRAM were as follows:

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, 
(in millions of €) 2011 2011

Trade and other receivables 925 858

Inventories 1,198 1,118

Goodwill 277 238

Other intangible assets 191 174

Property, plant and equipment 1,707 1,645

Deferred tax assets 259 269

Financial assets 171 174

Other assets    195    176

Assets classified as held for disposal 4,923 4,652

Trade payables 597 586

Current provisions 84 84

Other current liabilities 374 381

Pension plans and similar commitments 298 410

Other liabilities    290   279

Liabilities associated with  
assets classified as held for disposal 1,643 1,740

The net effect of the reimbursement out of the Siemens Trust 
and the contribution of plan assets into separate OSRAM pen-
sion plans amounting to €113 million in the first quarter of fis-
cal 2012 in the context of the planned listing of OSRAM is pre-
sented as a cash outflow in the line item Net cash provided by 
(used in) operating activities – discontinued operations.

Revenue resulting from transactions between OSRAM and 
joint ventures and associates of Siemens in the three months 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 amounted to €40 million 
and €46 million, respectively. Expenses resulting from trans-
actions between OSRAM and joint ventures and associates of 
Siemens in the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 amounted to €4 million and €1 million, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2011, receivables from and liabilities to joint 
ventures and associates are €44 million and €4 million, re-
spectively. As of September 30, 2011, receivables from and lia-
bilities to joint ventures and associates are €44 million and €3 
million, respectively. For further information regarding relat-
ed party transactions see  Note 17 Related party transactions.

Siemens IT Solutions and Services –  
discontinued operations 
In December 2010, Siemens and Atos S.A. (AtoS) signed an op-
tion agreement (written call option) which granted AtoS the 
right to acquire Siemens IT Solutions and Services. In Febru-
ary 2011, AtoS exercised this option. Closing of the transaction 
took place on July 1, 2011 following clearance of the transac-
tion by the relevant antitrust authorities and the approval 
from AtoS’ shareholders on July 1, 2011. Related to the transac-
tion is a seven-year outsourcing contract worth around €5.5 
billion, under which AtoS will provide managed services and 
system integration to Siemens. 

Upon closing Siemens received consideration from AtoS that 
included a cash payment of €177 million, as well as 12.5 mil-
lion newly issued shares in AtoS with a five-year lock-up com-
mitment and a five-year convertible bond of €250 million 
(nominal value). At the same time, Siemens recognized a lia-
bility for purchase price adjustments relating to the net debt 
and net working capital of Siemens IT Solutions and Services. 
Siemens also recorded contractual obligations, loss provisions 
and risk contingencies arising from the sales agreements 
with AtoS presented in line items Current provisions, Provi-
sions and Other current financial liabilities. For more detailed 
information on the transaction see  Note 4 Acquisitions, dis-
positions and discontinued operations of the Notes to the 
Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of Septem-
ber 30, 2011.



	3	 Key figures 	30	 Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 	 4	 Interim group management report
42

The conditions for Siemens IT Solutions and Services to be 
classified as held for disposal and discontinued operations 
were fulfilled as of the second quarter of fiscal 2011. The re-
sults are presented as discontinued operations in the Compa-
ny ’s Consolidated Statements of Income for all periods pre-
sented with the exception of certain business activities which 
remain in the Siemens group. Business activities which re-
main with Siemens primarily relate to project HERKULES, 
which is reported in line item Centrally managed portfolio ac-
tivities of Segment information and continues to be account-
ed for under the equity method. For information on HERKULES 
see  Note 29 Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes 
to the Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of 
September 30, 2011.

Three Months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Revenue – 908

Expenses  (9) (939)

Gain (loss) on the measurement to fair  
value less costs to sell or on the disposal  
of the disposal group constituting the 
discontinued operations   4 (152)

Pretax loss from discontinued operations (5) (183)

Income taxes on ordinary activities 3 7

Income taxes on the loss on the measurement 
to fair value less costs to sell or on the  
disposal of the disposal group constituting  
the discontinued operations –       6

Loss from discontinued operations,  
net of income taxes (2) (170)

The total loss recognized in fiscal 2011 on the disposal of the 
disposal group Siemens IT Solutions and Services amounted 
to €903 million. Of this amount €136 million relate to the im-
pairment of the Goodwill of Siemens IT Solutions and Servic-
es recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 before qualifying 
for the measurement guidance as held for disposal and dis-
continued operations presented under line item Gain (loss) on 
the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on the dis-
posal of the disposal group. Under that same line item ex-
penses for carve out activities necessary to establish Siemens 
IT Solutions and Services as a separate legal entity of €90 mil-
lion were presented in fiscal 2011, thereof €16 million in the 
first quarter of fiscal 2011.

Former segment Com – discontinued operations
Net results of discontinued operations presented in the Con-
solidated Statements of Income in the three months ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 of €(11) million (thereof €4 million 
income tax) and €(34) million (thereof €2 million income tax), 
respectively, relate mainly to former Com activities and, for the 
first quarter of fiscal 2011, include settlements of claims. 

3 – Other operating income 

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Gains on disposals of businesses 4 4

Gains on sales of property,  
plant and equipment and intangibles 11 100

Other 98 156

114 260

In the three months ended December 31, 2010, item Other in-
cludes €64 million income related to a settlement of legal 
matters in connection with portfolio activities. Item Gains on 
sales of property, plant and equipment and intangibles in-
cludes higher gains on real estate disposals in the three 
months ended December 31, 2010. 

4 – Other operating expense

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Losses on disposals of businesses and  
on sales of property, plant and equipment  
and intangibles (3) (27)

Other (98) (187)

(101) (214)

Item Other in the three months ended December 31, 2010 in-
cludes charges related to legal and regulatory matters.
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5 – Interest income, interest expense 
and other financial income (expense), 
net

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Pension related interest income 324 347

Interest income, other than pension 238 201

Interest income 562 548

Pension related interest expense (316) (312)

Interest expense, other than pension (117) (107)

Interest expense (433) (419)

Income (expense) from  
available-for-sale financial assets, net 93 3

Miscellaneous financial income (expense), net (45) (75)

Other financial income (expense), net 48 (72)

The components of Income (expense) from pension plans and 
similar commitments, net were as follows:

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Expected return on plan assets 324 347

Interest cost (316) (312)

Income (expense) from pension plans  
and similar commitments, net 8     35

Total amounts of item interest income and (expense), other 
than pension, were as follows:

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Interest income, other than pension 238 201

Interest (expense), other than pension (117) (107)

Interest income (expense), net,  
other than pension 121     94

�Thereof: Interest income  
(expense) of operations, net (5) 1

�Thereof: Other interest income  
(expense), net 127 93

Item Interest income (expense) of operations, net includes in-
terest income and expense primarily related to receivables 
from customers and payables to suppliers, interest on advanc-
es from customers and advanced financing of customer con-
tracts. Item Other interest income (expense), net includes all 
other interest amounts primarily consisting of interest relat-
ing to corporate debt and related hedging activities, as well as 
interest income on corporate assets. 

Interest income (expense) other than pension includes the 
following with respect to financial assets (financial liabilities) 
not at fair value through profit or loss:

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Total interest income on financial assets 237 201

Total interest expenses on financial liabilities 1 (207) (243)

1 � Relating to hedged positions, herein only the interest expense on hedged items 
not at fair value through profit and loss is included, whereas item Interest ex-
pense, other than pension also contains the offsetting effect on interest of the 
hedging instrument. The difference is due to the disparities of interest rate swap 
contracts further explained in  Note 32 Derivative financial instruments and 
hedging activities of the Notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial State-
ments as of September 30, 2011.

The components of item Income (expense) from available-for-
sale financial assets, net were as follows:

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010

Gains on sales, net 92 3

Dividends received 1 1

Impairment – (1)

Other – –

Income (expense) from  
available-for-sale financial assets, net 93   3

In the three months ended December 31, 2011, item Gains on 
sales, net includes €87 million gains from the sale of the 25% 
interest in OAO Power Machines held by the Energy Sector; 
€66 million of the gain relate to gains recycled from Other 
comprehensive income as of September 30, 2011. The invest-
ment was classified as held for disposal. The transaction 
closed in December 2011.
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Item Miscellaneous financial income (expense), net, in the 
three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, primarily 
comprises gains and losses related to derivative financial in-
struments, interest income (expense) related to long-term lia-
bilities and provisions of €(106) million and €148 million, re-
spectively, as well as income (expense) as a result of allow-
ances and write-offs of finance receivables of €(13) million 
and €(8) million, respectively. Included in interests from long-
term liabilities and provisions is the change in the discount 
rate of asset retirement obligations for environmental clean 
up costs.

6 – Goodwill

Dec. 31, 
2011

Sept. 30, 
2011(in millions of €)

Sectors

  Energy 2,427 2,269

  Healthcare 8,266 7,964

  Industry 3,958 3,802

  Infrastructure & Cities 1,607 1,559

Total Sectors 16,258 15,594

Financial Services (SFS) 116 112

Siemens 16,374 15,706

As of the beginning of fiscal 2012, Siemens rearranged its re-
porting structure of the segments, see  Note 16 Segment in-
formation for further information. The previously reported 
amounts of goodwill as of September 30, 2011 have been real-
located to conform to Siemens’ new reporting structure. 
Therefore, new cash generating units, which are represented 
by a Division or equivalent, were determined. Goodwill has 
been generally reallocated based on relative fair values of the 
cash generating units. Prior-year information has been adjust-
ed accordingly.

The net increase in goodwill of €668 million in the three 
months ended December 31, 2011, is attributable to €434 mil-
lion positive foreign currency adjustments, €242 million ac-
quisitions and purchase accounting adjustments; which is 
offset by dispositions of €8 million. 

7 – Other intangible assets

Dec. 31, 
2011

Sept. 30, 
2011(in millions of €)

Software and other internally generated  
intangible assets 3,101 2,955

Less: accumulated amortization (1,891) (1,775)

Software and other internally generated  
intangible assets, net 1,209 1,180

Patents, licenses and similar rights 6,934 6,665

Less: accumulated amortization (3,617) (3,401)

Patents, licenses and similar rights, net 3,316 3,264

Other intangible assets 4,526 4,444

Amortization expense reported in line item Income from con-
tinuing operations before income taxes amounted to €230 
million and €197 million, for the three months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

8 – Debt

In the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company 
redeemed at face value the first tranche of the €1.55 billion, 
5.25% debt issuance program as well as two tranches of the 
assignable loans of €370 million and €283.5 million.

As of December 31, 2011 and September 30, 2011, commercial 
papers of €1.2 billion and €– million were outstanding.

9 – Pension plans  
and similar commitments

Unless otherwise stated, all numbers presented below refer 
only to continuing operations and, therefore, do not include 
amounts related to Siemens IT Solutions and Services and 
OSRAM.

Service cost for pension plans and similar commitments are 
allocated among functional costs (line items Cost of goods 
sold and services rendered, Research and development ex-
penses, Marketing, selling and general administrative expens-
es) following the functional area of the corresponding profit 
and cost centers.
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Pension benefits 
Components of net periodic benefit cost

Pension obligations and funded status
At the end of the first three months of fiscal 2012, the com-
bined funded status of Siemens’ pension plans states an un-
derfunding of €5.7 billion, compared to an underfunding of 
€6.2 billion at the end of fiscal 2011.

The weighted-average discount rate used to determine the es-
timated DBO of Siemens’ pension plans as of December 31, 
2011 and September 30, 2011, is 4.4% and 4.5%, respectively.

Contributions made by the Company to its pension plans dur-
ing the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
were €253 million and €288 million, respectively (prior-year 
period included amounts related to Siemens IT Solutions and 
Services and OSRAM).

Other post-employment benefits
Net periodic benefit cost for other post-employment benefit 
plans for the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010, were €14 million and €15 million, respectively.

The combined funded status of Siemens’ predominantly un-
funded other post-employment benefit plans, including dis-
continued operations, amounted to €(0.8) billion, both at the 
end of the first quarter of fiscal 2012 and as of September 30, 
2011.

10 – Provisions

In the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Power 
Transmission Division of the Energy Sector incurred project 
charges mainly related to grid connections to offshore wind-
farms in Germany, due to project delays resulting from a com-
plex regulatory environment and cost increases associated 
with marine platforms. This led to €(203) million pretax ef-
fects on the income statement in the three months ended De-
cember 31, 2011, mainly recorded as provisions for order relat-
ed losses and risks.

11 – Shareholders’ equity

Treasury Stock
In the three months ended December 31, 2011, Siemens trans-
ferred a total of 2,004,920 of treasury stock in connection 
with share-based payment plans. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests
In connection with an acquisition in the three months ended 
December 31, 2011, a minority shareholder was granted a put 
option on the non-controlling interests. The transaction with 
non-controlling interests impacted item Retained earnings by 
€(404) million in the three months ended December 31, 2011; 
for further information on related accounting policies, see 

 Note 1 Basis of presentation.

Three months ended December 31, 2011 Three months ended December 31, 2011

(in millions of €) Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign

Service cost 102 75 27 128 71 57

Interest cost 306 195 111 303 183 120

Expected return on plan assets (324) (193) (131) (347) (211) (136)

Amortization of past service cost (benefit) (3) – (3) (2) – (2)

Loss (gain) due to settlements and curtailments (1) – (1) (6) – (6)

Net periodic benefit cost (income) 82 77 5 75 43 32

  Germany 77 77 – 43 43 –

  U.S. (4) – (4) 24 – 24

  U.K. (4) – (4) (1) – (1)

  Other 13 – 13 9 – 9
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Changes after period-end
At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 24, 2012, the 
Company ’s shareholders passed resolutions on the appropria-
tion of net income of Siemens AG, approving and authorizing 
a dividend of €3.00 per share, representing €2.6 billion divi-
dend payment.

Other Comprehensive Income
The changes in other comprehensive income including non-
controlling interests are as follows:

Three months ended December 31, 2011 Three months ended December 31, 2011

(in millions of €) Pretax Tax effect Net Pretax Tax effect Net

  Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets 30 (2) 29 13 1 14

  Reclassification adjustments for gains (losses) included in net income (85) – (85) 1 – 1

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets (55) (1) (56) 14 1 15

  Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments (125) 38 (87) (66) 27 (39)

  Reclassification adjustments for gains (losses) included in net income 19 (4) 14 (24) 7 (17)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments (106) 34 (73) (90) 34 (56)

Foreign-currency translation differences 559 – 559 377 – 377

Actuarial gains and losses on pension plans and similar commitments 295 37 332 1,061 (264) 797

Other comprehensive income 693 70 762 1,362 (229) 1,133

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, cumulative income (ex-
pense) of €(44) million and €(30) million is recognized in line 
item Other comprehensive income, net of tax which relates to 
non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for 
disposal.

Actuarial gains and losses on pension plans and similar com-
mitments in the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 primarily changed due to an adjustment of the dis-
count rate and due to actual returns varying from expected 
returns. Foreign currency translation differences in the three 
months ended December 31, 2011 resulted from the strength-
ening of the US$ and from changes in the British Pound and 
the Chinese Renminbi.

12 – Commitments and contingencies 

The following table presents the undiscounted amount of 
maximum potential future payments for each major group of 
guarantees: 

Dec. 31, 
2011

Sept. 30, 
2011(in millions of €)

Guarantees:

  Credit guarantees 640 591

  Guarantees of third-party performance 2,743 2,643

  HERKULES obligations1 2,290 2,690

  Other guarantees 3,415 3,424

9,087 9,348

1 � For additional information on the HERKULES obligations, see  Note 29 Commit-
ments and contingencies of the Notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of September 30, 2011.
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13 – Legal proceedings

Information regarding investigations and other legal proceed-
ings, as well as the potential risks associated with such pro-
ceedings and their potential financial impact on Siemens, is 
included in  Note 30 Legal proceedings of the Notes to the 
Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of Septem-
ber 30, 2011.

Significant developments regarding investigations and other 
legal proceedings that have occurred since the preparation of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements are described below.

Public corruption proceedings 
Governmental and related proceedings
As previously reported, Siemens AG had filed a request for ar-
bitration against the Republic of Argentina (Argentina) with 
the International Center for Settlement of Investment Dis-
putes (ICSID) of the World Bank. Siemens AG claimed that Ar-
gentina had unlawfully terminated its contract with Siemens 
for the development and operation of a system for the produc-
tion of identity cards, border control, collection of data and 
voters’ registers (DNI project) and thereby violated the Bilater-
al Investment Protection Treaty between Argentina and Ger-
many (BIT). A unanimous decision on the merits was ren-
dered by the ICSID arbitration tribunal in February 2007, 
awarding Siemens AG, inter alia, compensation in the amount 
of US$217,8 million, plus compound interest thereon at a rate 
of 2.66% since May 18, 2001. Argentina subsequently filed ap-
plications with the ICSID aiming at the annulment and rever-
sal of the decision and a stay of enforcement of the arbitral 
award. In August 2009, Argentina and Siemens AG reached an 
agreement to mutually settle the case and discontinue any 
and all civil proceedings in connection with the case without 
acknowledging any legal obligations or claims. No payment 
was made by either party. As previously reported, the Argen-
tinean Anti-Corruption Authority is conducting an investiga-
tion against individuals into corruption of government offi-
cials in connection with the award of the contract for the DNI 
project to Siemens in 1998. Searches were undertaken at the 
premises of Siemens Argentina and Siemens IT Services S.A. 
in Buenos Aires in August 2008 and in February 2009. The 
Company is cooperating with the Argentinean Authorities. 
The Argentinean investigative judge also repeatedly request-
ed judicial assistance from the Munich public prosecutor and 
the federal court in New York. In December 2011, the U.S. Se-

curities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice filed an indictment against nine individuals 
based on the same facts as the investigation of the Argentin-
ean Anti-Corruption Authority. Most of these individuals are 
former Siemens employees. The former member of the Man-
aging Board of Siemens AG, Dr. Uriel Sharef, is also involved. 
Siemens AG is not party to the proceedings.

As previously reported, in February 2010 a Greek Parliamenta-
ry Investigation Committee (GPIC) was established to investi-
gate whether any politicians or other state officials in Greece 
were involved in alleged wrong-doing of Siemens in Greece. 
GPIC’s investigation was focused on possible criminal liability 
of politicians and other state officials. Greek public prosecu-
tors are separately investigating certain fraud and bribery al-
legations involving – among others – former board members 
and former executives of Siemens A.E. Greece (Siemens A.E.) 
and Siemens AG. Both investigations may have a negative im-
pact on civil proceedings currently pending against Siemens 
AG and Siemens A.E. and may affect the future business activ-
ities of Siemens in Greece. In January 2011, the GPIC alleged in 
a letter to Siemens that the damage suffered by the Greek 
state amounts to at least €2 billion. Furthermore, the GPIC is-
sued a report repeating these allegations. In addition, the Hel-
lenic Republic Minister of State indicated in a letter to Siemens 
that the Greek state will seek compensation from Siemens for 
the alleged damage. While Siemens rejects these allegations 
as unfounded and continues to defend itself, Siemens and the 
Greek state continue to be engaged in discussions to resolve 
the matter.

The Company remains subject to corruption-related investiga-
tions in several jurisdictions around the world. As a result, ad-
ditional criminal or civil sanctions could be brought against the 
Company itself or against certain of its employees in connec-
tion with possible violations of law. In addition, the scope of 
pending investigations may be expanded and new investiga-
tions commenced in connection with allegations of bribery or 
other illegal acts. The Company ’s operating activities, financial 
results and reputation may also be negatively affected, particu-
larly as a result of penalties, fines, disgorgements, compensa-
tory damages, third-party litigation, including with competi-
tors, the formal or informal exclusion from public invitations to 
tender, or the loss of business licenses or permits. Additional 
expenses and provisions, which could be material, may need to 
be recorded in the future for penalties, fines, damages or other 
charges in connection with the investigations.
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Antitrust proceedings
As previously reported, in October 2011, the local Antitrust Au-
thority in Rovno, Ukraine, notified DP Siemens Ukraine of an 
investigation into anti-competitive practices in connection 
with a delivery of medical equipment to a public hospital in 
2010. Siemens cooperated with the authority. The authority 
imposed a fine in an amount equivalent to €4,000. DP 
Siemens Ukraine did not appeal the decision.

Other proceedings
As previously reported, Siemens AG is a member of a supplier 
consortium that has been contracted to construct the nuclear 
power plant “Olkiluoto 3” in Finland for Teollisuuden Voima 
Oyj (TVO) on a turnkey basis. Siemens AG’s share of the con-
sideration to be paid to the supplier consortium under the 
contract is approximately 27%. The other member of the sup-
plier consortium is a further consortium consisting of Areva 
NP S.A.S. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Areva NP GmbH. 
The agreed completion date for the nuclear power plant was 
April 30, 2009. Completion of the power plant has been de-
layed for reasons which are in dispute. In December 2008, the 
supplier consortium filed a request for arbitration against TVO 
demanding an extension of the construction time, additional 
compensation, milestone payments, damages and interest. In 
April 2009, TVO rejected the claims and made counterclaims 
against the supplier consortium. These consist primarily of 
damages due to the delay amounting to approximately €1.43 
billion based on an estimated completion of the plant in June 
2012 with a delay of 38 months. In June 2011, the supplier 
consortium increased its monetary claim; it now amounts to 
€1.94 billion. In December 2011, the supplier consortium in-
formed TVO that the completion of the plant is expected in 
August 2014. The final phases of the plant completion require 
the full cooperation of all parties involved. The further delay 
as well as further schedule uncertainties in the completion of 
the plant could lead TVO to increase its counterclaims.

In December 2011, the United States Attorney ’s Office for the 
Northern District of New York served a Grand Jury subpoena 
on the Company that seeks records of consulting payments for 
business conducted by the Building Technologies unit in New 
York State over the period from January 1, 2000 through Sep-
tember 30, 2011. Siemens is cooperating with the authority.

For certain legal proceedings information required under IAS 
37, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, is 
not disclosed, if the Company concludes that the disclosure 

can be expected to seriously prejudice the outcome of the 
litigation. 

In addition to the investigations and legal proceedings de-
scribed in Siemens’ Consolidated Financial Statements as of 
September 2011 and as updated above, Siemens AG and its 
subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various other 
legal actions and proceedings arising in connection with their 
activities as a global diversified group. Some of these pending 
proceedings have been previously disclosed. Some of the legal 
actions include claims or potential claims for punitive damag-
es or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. Siemens 
is from time to time also involved in regulatory investigations 
beyond those described in its Consolidated Financial State-
ments and as updated above. Siemens is cooperating with the 
relevant authorities in several jurisdictions and, where appro-
priate, conducts internal investigations regarding potential 
wrongdoing with the assistance of in-house and external 
counsel. Given the number of legal actions and other proceed-
ings to which Siemens is subject, it cannot be excluded that 
some may result in adverse decisions. Siemens contests ac-
tions and proceedings when it considers it appropriate. In view 
of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such 
matters, particularly in cases in which claimants seek indeter-
minate damages, Siemens may not be able to predict what the 
eventual loss or range of loss related to such matters will be. 
The final resolutions of the matters discussed in this section 
could have a material effect on Siemens’ business, results of 
operations and financial condition for any reporting period in 
which adverse decisions are rendered. Siemens currently does 
not expect its business, results of operations and financial 
condition to be materially affected by the additional legal mat-
ters not separately discussed in this section. 

14 – Share-based payment

Share-based payment plans at Siemens are predominantly de-
signed as equity-settled plans and to a limited extent as cash-
settled plans. If participating Siemens companies cease to be 
part of the Siemens Group, they are no longer eligible for par-
ticipation in future share-based payment plans at Siemens. In 
such cases, the participating Siemens companies have the 
right to settle the share-based payment awards prematurely. 
Total pretax expense for share-based payment recognized in 
line item Income from continuing operations amounted to 
€60 million and €53 million for the three months ended De-
cember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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For further information on Siemens’ share-based payment 
plans, see  Note 34 Share-based payment of the Notes to the 
Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of Septem-
ber 30, 2011.

Stock awards 
Terms and conditions:
The Company grants stock awards as a form of share-based 
payment to members of the Managing Board, members of the 
senior management and other eligible employees. Stock 
awards are subject to a restriction period of about four years 
and entitle the beneficiary to Siemens shares without pay-
ment of consideration following the restriction period. Stock 
awards granted in fiscal 2008 to 2011 were generally subject 
to a restriction period of three years. Stock awards forfeit if 
the beneficiaries employment with the Company terminates 
prior to the expiration of the restriction period. During the re-
striction period, beneficiaries are not entitled to dividends. 
Stock awards may not be transferred, sold, pledged or other-
wise encumbered. Settlement of stock awards may occur in 
newly issued shares of common stock of Siemens AG, trea-
sury stock or in cash. The settlement method will be deter-
mined by the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board. 
Each fiscal year, the Company decides whether or not to grant 
stock awards. The Supervisory Board decides about the num-
ber of stock awards to the Managing Board and the Managing 
Board decides about the number of stock awards to members 
of the senior management and other eligible employees. 

In fiscal 2012, the allocation of stock awards as a share-based 
payment has been increasingly tied to corporate performance 
criteria. The target attainment for the performance criteria 
ranges between 0% and 200%.

Half of the annual target amount for stock awards is based on 
the average of earnings per share (EPS, basic) of the past 
three fiscal years. The target attainment determines the num-
ber of stock awards upon allocation. Settlement of these stock 
awards is in shares following the four-year restriction period. 

The other half of the annual target amount for stock awards is 
based on the share price performance of Siemens shares rela-
tive to the share price performance of five important Siemens 
competitors (ABB, General Electric, Philips, Rockwell, Schnei-
der) during the four-year restriction period. The target attain-
ment is determined during the four-year restriction period for 
the stock awards and accordingly, determines the number of 

stock awards ultimately transferred following the restriction 
period. If the target attainment is up to 100%, settlement is in 
shares. If the target attainment exceeds 100% (up to 200%) an 
additional cash payment corresponding to the outperfor-
mance results. The total carrying amount of liabilities arising 
from stock awards settled in cash amounts to €1 million and 
€– million as of December 31, 2011 and as of September 30, 
2011, respectively. 

Additionally one portion of the variable compensation com-
ponent (bonus) for members of the Managing Board is grant-
ed in the form of non-forfeitable awards of Siemens stock 
(Bonus Awards). 

Commitments to members of the Managing Board:
In fiscal 2012 and 2011, agreements were entered into which 
entitle members of the Managing Board to stock awards con-
tingent upon attainment of an EPS-based target. The fair value 
of these entitlements amounting to €6 million and €5 million 
was determined by calculating the present value of the target 
amount. In fiscal 2012 and 2011, agreements were entered into 
which entitle members of the Managing Board to stock awards 
contingent upon attainment of a performance-based target of 
Siemens stock relative to five competitors. The fair value of 
these entitlements amounting to €7 million and €6 million 
was calculated by applying a local volatility model. Inputs to 
that model include an expected weighted volatility of Siemens 
shares of 27% in 2012 and 30% and 29%, respectively, in 2011 
and a market price of €73.94 in fiscal 2012 and €88.09 and 
€92.98, respectively in fiscal 2011 per Siemens share. Expected 
volatility was determined by reference to implied volatilities. 
The model applies a risk-free interest rate of up to 1.7% in fiscal 
2012 and up to 2.4% and up to 3.0%, respectively, in fiscal 2011 
and an expected dividend yield of 4.1% in fiscal 2012 and 3% 
and 2.4%, respectively, in fiscal 2011. Compensation expense 
related to stock awards is generally recognized over five years 
until they vest, including a restriction period of four years. 

In fiscal 2012 and 2011, agreements were entered into which 
entitle members of the Managing Board to Bonus Awards con-
tingent upon the target attainment. The fair value of these en-
titlements amounting to €5 million and €5 million was deter-
mined by calculating the present value of the target amount. 
Compensation expense related to Bonus Awards is generally 
recognized over one-year until they vest. Beneficiaries will re-
ceive one Siemens share without payment of consideration 
for each Bonus Award, following an additional waiting period 
of four years.
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In the three months ended December 31, 2010 the Company 
granted additional 128,284 stock awards to members of the 
Managing Board. The fair value of these stock awards amount-
ing to €77.76 per stock award was determined as the market 
price of Siemens shares less the present value of expected 
dividends. 

The remuneration system of the Managing Board and the 
changes in the stock awards held by Managing Board mem-
bers are explained in detail in the  Compensation report 
within the Corporate Governance report in the Siemens’ An-
nual Report as of September 30, 2011. 

Commitments to members of the senior management 
and other eligible employees: 
In the three months ended December 31, 2011, 1,080,609 
stock awards were granted to members of the senior manage-
ment and other eligible employees contingent upon attain-
ment of an EPS target. The fair value of these stock awards 
amounts to €62 million and corresponds to the target amount 
reflecting the EPS target attainment. In the three months end-
ed December 31, 2011, 947,945 stock awards were granted to 
members of the senior management and other eligible em-
ployees contingent upon the attainment of a prospective per-
formance-based target of the Siemens stock. The fair value of 
these stock awards amounting to €58 million, of which €46 
million relate to equity instruments, was calculated by apply-
ing a local volatility model. Inputs to that model include an 
expected weighted volatility of Siemens shares of 25.33% and 
a market price of €74.14 per Siemens share. Expected volatility 
was determined by reference to implied volatilities. The mod-
el applies a risk-free interest rate of up to 1.8% and an expect-
ed dividend yield of 3.91%. Compensation expense related to 
these stock awards is recognized over four years until they 
vest. 

The following table shows the changes in the stock awards 
held by members of the senior management and other eligi-
ble employees:

Three months 
ended Dec. 31,  

2011

Three months 
ended Dec. 31,  

2010

Awards Awards

Non-vested, beginning of period 3,857,315 4,306,373

Granted 2,028,554 1,249,901

Vested and transferred (1,531,944) (1,482,096)

Forfeited/settled (41,509)1 (35,095)

Non-vested, end of period 4,312,416 4,039,083

1 � Consists of 26,816 forfeited and 14,693 settled awards, respectively, in the three 
months ended December 31, 2011.

Stock Option Plans
Regarding stock option plans, see  Note 34 Share-based pay-
ment to the Notes of the Company ’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of September 30, 2011.

Share Matching Program  
and its underlying plans
For a detailed description of the Share Matching Plan and its 
underlying plans, see  Note 34 Share-based payment to the 
Notes of the Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as 
of September 30, 2011.

1. S hare Matching Plan
In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, re-
spectively, Siemens issued a new tranche under the Share 
Matching Plan.

2. M onthly Investment Plan
In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, re-
spectively, Siemens issued a new tranche under the Monthly 
Investment Plan that is a further component of the Share 
Matching Plan and which is available for employees – other 
than senior managers – of Siemens AG and participating 
Siemens companies.

The Managing Board decided that shares acquired under the 
tranches issued in fiscal 2011 and 2010 will be transferred to 
the Share Matching Plan.
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3.  Base Share Program
In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, 
Siemens issued a new tranche under the Base Share Program. 
In fiscal 2012 and 2011, the Company incurred pretax expense 
from continuing operations of €29 million and €28 million, re-
spectively.

4. E ntitlements to Matching Shares
In the three months ended December 31, 2011, 10,508 entitle-
ments to matching shares were forfeited and 11,747 entitle-
ments to matching shares were settled, of the 1,977,091 begin-
ning balance, which resulted in 1,954,836 entitlements to 
matching shares as of December 31, 2011. In the three months 
ended December 31, 2010, 22,580 entitlements to matching 
shares were forfeited and 12,978 entitlements to matching 
shares were settled, of the 1,614,729 beginning balance, which 
resulted in 1,579,171 entitlements to matching shares as of De-
cember 31, 2010. The number of entitlements to matching 
shares that have been granted in the first quarter depends on 
the number of investment shares to be transferred in the sec-
ond quarter and will be determined at that time. For further in-
formation, including fair value determination, see  Note 34 
Share-based payment to the Notes of the Company ’s Consoli-
dated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011. 

15 – Earnings per share

Three months ended 
December 31,

(shares in thousands) 2011 2010

Income from continuing operations 1,356 1,846

Less: Portion attributable  
to non-controlling interest (14) (40)

Income from continuing operations  
attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG 1,342 1,806

Weighted average shares  
outstanding – basic 875,421 871,194

Effect of dilutive  
share-based payment 8,481 9,206

Weighted average shares  
outstanding – diluted 883,902 880,400

Basic earnings per share  
(from continuing operations) €1.53 €2.07

Diluted earnings per share  
(from continuing operations) €1.52 €2.05

16 – Segment information

Segment information is presented for continuing operations. 
Accordingly, current and prior period Segment information ex-
cludes discontinued operations. Commencing with fiscal 2012, 
Siemens changed its financial reporting structure to reflect the 
Company ’s new organization. Prior year information has been 
recast to correspond to the fiscal 2012 reporting format. 

Effective as of October 1, 2011, Siemens changed its organiza-
tional structure of the Sectors. A fourth Sector, Infrastruc-
ture & Cities was formed in order to benefit from the growth of 
urban centers. The new Sector Infrastructure & Cities compris-
es the Industry Sector activities of Building Technologies, Mo-
bility as well as the Energy Sector ’s Power Distribution busi-
ness and Smart Grid applications. The Industry Sector is fo-
cusing even more sharply on industry solutions. Accordingly, 
since fiscal 2012, the Company has six reportable segments: 
the four Sectors Energy, Healthcare, Industry and Infrastruc-
ture & Cities as well as Equity Investments and Financial Ser-
vices. Healthcare, Equity Investments and Financial Services 
retained its previous structure. The Managing Board is moni-
toring each reportable segment. Each reportable segment has 
its own segment management reporting to the Managing 
Board.

description of reportable segments
Energy
The Energy Sector offers a complete spectrum of products, 
services and solutions for power generation in thermal power 
plants and using renewables, power transmission in grids and 
for the extraction, processing and transport of oil and gas.

Industry
The Industry Sector is a supplier of products, systems, servic-
es and solutions of productivity, flexibility and efficiency of-
ferings for industrial enterprises.

Infrastructure & Cities
The Infrastructure & Cities Sector offers sustainable technolo-
gies for metropolitan areas and their infrastructures. Its offer-
ings include integrated mobility solutions, building and secu-
rity technology, power distribution, smart grid applications, 
and low- and medium-voltage products. 
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For a description of the segments Healthcare, Equity Invest-
ments and Financial Services (SFS), which retained their orga-
nizational structure, see  Note 37 Segment information to 
the Notes of the Company ’s Consolidated Financial State-
ments as of September 30, 2011.

Reconciliation to  
Consolidated Financial Statements
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements contains 
businesses and items not directly related to Siemens’ report-
able segments: 

Centrally managed portfolio activities
Centrally managed portfolio activities are intended for divest-
ment or closure and, at present, primarily includes activities 
remaining from divestments and discontinued operations 
such as from Siemens IT Solutions and Services and from the 
former Communications (Com) business.

Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 
SRE owns and manages the Siemens real estate portfolio and 
offers a range of services encompassing real estate develop-
ment, real estate disposal and asset management, as well as 
lease and services management. 

Corporate items and pensions 
Corporate items and pensions includes corporate charges 
such as personnel costs for corporate headquarters, corporate 
projects and non-operating investments or results of corpo-
rate-related derivative activities and, costs for carve-out activi-
ties managed by corporate, which are charged to the respec-
tive segment when the disposal gain or loss is realized or 
when the activities are classified as discontinued operations. 
Pensions includes the Company ’s pension related income (ex-
pense) not allocated to the segments, SRE or Centrally man-
aged portfolio activities. Regarding the allocation of central 
infrastructure costs, see Profit definition below.

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury  
and other reconciling items 
Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items 
comprise consolidation of transactions within the segments, 
certain reconciliation and reclassification items and the activi-
ties of the Company ’s Corporate Treasury. It also includes in-
terest income and expense, such as, for example, interest not 
allocated to segments or Centrally managed portfolio acti
vities (referred to as financing interest), interest related to 

Corporate Treasury activities or resulting consolidation and 
reconciliation effects on interest. 

Measurement – Segments
Accounting policies for Segment information are based on 
those used for Siemens, which are described in  Note 2 Sum-
mary of significant accounting policies of the Notes to the 
Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of Septem-
ber 30, 2011, unless described below. Lease transactions, how-
ever, are classified as operating leases for internal and seg-
ment reporting purposes. Corporate overhead is generally not 
allocated to segments, except for central infrastructure costs 
which are primarily allocated to the Sectors. Intersegment 
transactions are based on market prices.

Profit of the Sectors and of Equity Investments:
Siemens’ Managing Board is responsible for assessing the per-
formance of the segments. The Company ’s profitability mea-
sure of the Sectors and Equity Investments is earnings before 
financing interest, certain pension costs, and income taxes as 
determined by the chief operating decision maker (Profit). 
Profit excludes various categories of items, not allocated to 
the Sectors and to Equity Investments which Management 
does not regard as indicative of their performance. Profit rep-
resents a performance measure focused on operational suc-
cess excluding the effects of capital market financing issues; 
for financing regarding Equity Investments see paragraph be-
low. The major categories of items excluded from Profit are 
presented below.

Financing interest, excluded from Profit, is any interest in-
come or expense other than interest income related to receiv-
ables from customers, from cash allocated to the Sectors and 
to Equity Investments and interest expense on payables to 
suppliers. Borrowing costs capitalized as part of qualifying 
long-term projects are not part of financing interest. Financ-
ing interest is excluded from Profit because decision-making 
regarding financing is typically made at the corporate level. 
Equity Investments include interest and impairments as well 
as reversals of impairments on long-term loans granted to in-
vestments reported in Equity Investments.

Similarly, decision-making regarding essential pension items 
is done centrally. As a consequence, Profit primarily includes 
amounts related to service costs of pension plans only, while 
all other regularly recurring pension related costs (including 
charges for the German pension insurance association and 
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plan administration costs) are included in the line item Corpo-
rate items and pensions. Curtailments are a partial payback 
with regard to past service costs that affect Segment Profit.

Furthermore, income taxes are excluded from Profit since in-
come tax is subject to legal structures, which typically do not 
correspond to the structure of the segments.

The effect of certain litigation and compliance issues is ex-
cluded from Profit, if such items are not indicative of the Sec-
tors and the Equity Investments’ performance, since their re-
lated results of operations may be distorted by the amount 
and the irregular nature of such events. This may also be the 
case for items that refer to more than one reportable seg-
ment, SRE and/or Centrally managed portfolio activities or 
have a corporate or central character.

Beginning with fiscal 2011, central infrastructure costs are al-
located primarily to the Sectors. The total amount to be allo-
cated is determined at the beginning of the fiscal year and is 
charged in equal installments in all four quarters.

For fiscal 2010, Company ’s management approved a special 
remuneration, which was presented in Corporate items in fis-
cal 2010; in the three months ended December 31, 2010, the 
remuneration totaling €267 million for continuing operations 
was primarily allocated to the Sectors based on management 
approach, which resulted in a positive impact at Corporate 
items; charges were made to Energy €60 million, Healthcare 
€43 million, Industry €75 million and Infrastructure & Cities 
€63 million. 

Profit of Equity Investments mainly comprises income (loss) 
from investments presented in Equity Investments, such as 
the share in the earnings of associates or dividends from in-
vestments not accounted for under the equity method, in-
come (loss) from the sale of interests in investments, impair-
ment of investments and reversals of impairments. It also in-
cludes interest and impairments as well as reversals of impair-
ments on long-term loans granted to investments reported in 
Equity Investments, primarily NSN.

Profit of the segment SFS:
Profit of the segment SFS is Income before income taxes. In 
contrast to performance measurement principles applied to 
the Sectors and Equity Investments, interest income and ex-
pense is an important source of revenue and expense of 
SFS.

Asset measurement principles:
Management determined Assets as a measure to assess capi-
tal intensity of the Sectors and of Equity Investments (Net 
capital employed). Its definition corresponds to the Profit 
measure. It is based on Total assets of the Consolidated State-
ments of Financial Position, primarily excluding intragroup 
financing receivables, intragroup investments and tax related 
assets, since the corresponding positions are excluded from 
Profit. A Division of Infrastructure & Cities, includes the proj-
ect-specific intercompany financing of a long-term project. 
The remaining assets are reduced by non-interest-bearing lia-
bilities other than tax related liabilities (e.g. trade payables) to 
derive Assets. Equity Investments may include certain share-
holder loans granted to investments reported in Equity Invest-
ments. In contrast, Assets of SFS is Total assets. 

New orders:
New orders are determined principally as estimated revenue 
of accepted purchase orders and order value changes and ad-
justments, excluding letters of intent. New orders are supple-
mentary information, provided on a voluntary basis. It is not 
part of the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements subject 
to the review opinion.

Free cash flow definition:
Segment information discloses Free cash flow and Additions 
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. Free 
cash flow of the Sectors and of Equity Investments constitutes 
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less addi-
tions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. 
It excludes Financing interest, except in cases where interest 
on qualifying assets is capitalized or classified as contract 
costs and it also excludes income tax related and certain other 
payments and proceeds, in accordance with the Company ’s 
Profit and Asset measurement definition. Free cash flow of 
Equity Investments includes interest from shareholder loans 
granted to investments reported in Equity Investments, pri-
marily NSN. Pension curtailments are a partial payback with 
regard to past service costs that affect Segment Free cash 
flow. Free cash flow of SFS, a financial services business, in-
cludes related financing interest payments and proceeds; 
income tax payments and proceeds of SFS are excluded. 

Amortization, depreciation and impairments:
Amortization, depreciation and impairments presented in 
Segment information includes depreciation and impairments 
of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals of impair-
ments as well as amortization and impairments of intangible 
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assets, net of reversals of impairment. Goodwill impairment is 
excluded. 

Measurement –  
Centrally managed portfolio activities and SRE
Centrally managed portfolio activities follow the measure-
ment principles of the Sectors and of Equity Investments. SRE 
applies the measurement principles of SFS; Total assets of SRE 
nets certain intercompany finance receivables with certain in-
tercompany finance liabilities. 

Reconciliation to  
Siemens’ Consolidated Financial Statements
The following table reconciles total Assets of the reportable 
segments to Total assets of Siemens’ Consolidated Statements 
of Financial Position:

Dec. 31, 
2011

Sept. 30, 
2011(in millions of €)

Assets of Sectors 22,928 21,090

Assets of Equity Investments 3,388 3,382

Assets of SFS 16,126 14,602

Total Segment assets 42,443 39,074

Reconciliation:

Assets Centrally managed portfolio activities (394) (397)

Assets of SRE 5,166 4,974

Assets of Corporate items and pensions (9,093) (9,806)

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other 
reconciling items of Segment information:

  Asset-based adjustments:

 � Intra-group financing receivables  
and investments 20,367 24,023

  Tax-related assets 3,865 3,901

  Liability-based adjustments:

  Pension plans and similar commitments 6,774 7,307

  Liabilities 43,404 42,585

 � Eliminations, Corporate Treasury,  
other items 1 (6,675) (7,418)

Total Eliminations, Corporate Treasury  
and other reconciling items of Segment  
information 67,735 70,398

Total assets in Siemens’ Consolidated  
Statements of Financial Position 105,858 104,243

1 � Includes assets and liabilities reclassified in connection with discontinued operations. 

In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, Cor-
porate items and pensions in the column Profit includes €(61) 
million and €231 million income (expense), respectively, relat-
ed to corporate items, as well as €(13) million and €28 million 
income (expense), respectively, related to pensions. In the 
three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, Corporate 
items includes a net effect of €(46) million and €(24) million, 
respectively, in connection with an asset retirement obliga-
tion; the three months ended December 31, 2011 also include 
€(35) million reimbursements to AtoS for costs in connection 
with AtoS becoming Siemens’ IT advisor. In the first quarter of 
fiscal 2011, a special remuneration, which was granted and 
charged to Corporate items in fiscal 2010, was primarily allo-
cated to the Sectors, resulting in a positive impact of €267 mil-
lion in Corporate items.

The following table reconciles Free cash flow, Additions to in-
tangible assets and property, plant and equipment and Amor-
tization, depreciation and impairments as disclosed in Seg-
ment information to the corresponding consolidated amount 
for the Company.
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Additional Segment information
In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, Profit 
of SFS includes interest income of €189 million and €162 mil-
lion, respectively, and interest expense of €75 million and €75 
million, respectively. 

17 – Related party transactions

Joint ventures and associates
Siemens has relationships with many joint ventures and asso-
ciates in the ordinary course of business whereby Siemens 
buys and sells a wide variety of products and services gener-
ally on arm’s length terms. For information regarding our 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies, see 

 Note 19 Investment accounted for using the equity method 
and  Note 43 List of subsidiaries and associated companies 
pursuant to Section 313 of the German Commercial Code of 
the Notes to the Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of September 30, 2011.

Sales of goods and services and other income from transac-
tions with joint ventures and associates as well as purchases 
of goods and services and other expense from transactions 
with joint ventures and associates were as follows:

Sales of goods and services 
and other income

Three months ended 
December 31,

Purchases of goods and  
services and other expense

Three months ended 
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Joint ventures 131    43 11   9

Associates 135 140 63 69

266 183 74 78

The increase in sales of goods and services and other income 
in connection with joint ventures resulted from a windpower 
plant project of the Energy Sector. 

Receivables from joint ventures and associates and liabilities 
to joint ventures and associates in relation to these transac-
tions were follows:

Receivables Liabilities

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Sept. 30,
(in millions of €) 2011 2011 2011 2011

Joint ventures 64 44 27 76

Associates 139 104 186 188

203 148 213 265

Free cash flow
(I) = (II) + (III)

Three months ended  
December 31,

Net cash provided by  
(used in) operating  

activities (II)

Three months ended  
December 31,

Additions to intangible  
assets and property,  

plant and equipment (III)

Three months ended  
December 31,

Amortization,  
depreciation  

and impairments

Three months ended  
December 31,

(in millions of €) 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Segment information –  
based on continuing operations (1,029) 1,059 (581) 1,412 (447) (353) 648 615 

Discontinued operations (190) (131) (152) (4) (38) (127) – 231 

Goodwill impairment – – – – – – – –

Cash flow continuing  
and discontinued operations (1,219) 928 (734) 1,408 (485) (480) 648 846
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As of December 31, 2011 and September 30, 2011, loans given 
to joint ventures and associates amounted to €160 million and 
€158 million, respectively. In December 2010, Siemens and 
Nokia Corporation each converted €266 million, including the 
remaining shareholder loan tranche amounted to €250 mil-
lion, nominal and deferred interest to NSN, into preferred 
shares.

There have been no material changes relating to collaterals 
and loan commitments since September 30, 2011. For further 
information see  Note 39 Related party transactions of the 
Notes to the Company ’s Consolidated Financial Statements as 
of September 30, 2011. 

As of December 31, 2011 and September 30, 2011, guarantees 
to joint ventures and associates amounted to €4,744 million 
and €5,161 million, respectively, including the HERKULES obli-
gations of €2,290 million and €2,690 million, respectively. 

Pension entities
For information regarding the funding of our pension plans 
refer to  Note 9 Pension plans and similar commitments.

Related individuals
Related individuals include the members of the Managing 
Board and Supervisory Board.

In the three months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, no 
major transactions took place between the Company and 
members of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board.

Some of the members of the Company ’s Managing Board and 
Supervisory Board hold positions of significant responsibility 
with other entities. Siemens has relationships with almost all 
of these entities in the ordinary course of business whereby 
the Company buys and sells a wide variety of products and 
services on arm’s length terms.

18 – Supervisory Board

Effective as of the end of the day of the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting on January 24, 2012, Mr. Dieter Scheitor left the 
Supervisory Board. In his place, by court resolution, Mr. Jürgen 
Kerner was appointed as member of the Supervisory Board.
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To Siemens Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin and Munich

We have reviewed the condensed interim consolidated financial statements comprising the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flow and selected explanatory notes, together with the interim group man-
agement report, of Siemens Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin and Munich for the period from October 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 
which are part of the quarterly financial report pursuant to Sec. 37x (3) WpHG (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”: German Securities 
Trading Act). The preparation of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS applicable to 
interim financial reporting as issued by the IASB and as adopted by the EU and of the interim group management report in 
accordance with the requirements of the WpHG applicable to interim group management reports is the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on the condensed interim consolidated financial statements and 
the interim group management report based on our review. 

We conducted our review of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements and the interim group management re-
port in accordance with German generally accepted standards for the review of financial statements promulgated by the Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW – Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) and in accordance with the International Standard on 
Review Engagements 2410, “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity”. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the review so that we can preclude through critical evaluation, with a certain 
level of assurance, that the condensed interim consolidated financial statements have not been prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as issued by the IASB and as adopted by the EU, and 
that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements 
of the WpHG applicable to interim group management reports. A review is limited primarily to making inquiries of company 
personnel and applying analytical procedures and thus does not provide the assurance that we would obtain from an audit of 
financial statements. In accordance with our engagement, we have not performed a financial statement audit and, accordingly, 
we do not express an audit opinion.

Based on our review nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the condensed interim consolidated finan-
cial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IFRS applicable to interim financial report-
ing as issued by the IASB and as adopted by the EU and that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the WpHG applicable to interim group management reports.

Munich, January 27, 2012

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Krämmer	 Prof. Dr. Hayn
Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer

Review report
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Quarterly summary

Quarterly summary

Fiscal Year 
2012

Fiscal Year 
2011

(in €, except where otherwise stated) 1st Quarter 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter

Revenue (in millions of €)1 17,902 20,351 17,844 17,717 17,603

Income (loss) from continuing operations (in millions of €) 1,356 1,228 763 3,174 1,846

Net income (in millions of €) 1,457 1,231 501 2,836 1,753

Free cash flow (in millions of €)1, 2 (1,029) 3,480 992 354 1,059

Key capital market data

Basic earnings per share1 1.53 1.33 0.83 3.58 2.07

Diluted earnings per share1 1.52 1.32 0.82 3.55 2.05

Siemens stock price 3

  High 78.19 95.25 99.38 98.00 94.78

  Low 65.67 64.45 89.46 86.43 75.56

  Period-end 73.94 68.12 94.70 96.71 92.70

Siemens stock performance on a quarterly basis (in percentage points)

  Compared to DAX index 1.34 (2.66) (6.83) 5.48 8.72

  Compared to MSCI World index 0.95 (11.45) (2.55) 2.52 10.77

Number of shares issued (in millions) 914 914 914 914 914

Market capitalization (in millions of €) 4 64,790 59,554 82,769 84,505 80,884

Credit rating of long-term debt

  Standard & Poor’s A+ A+ A+ A+ A+

  Moody’s A1 A1 A1 A1 A1

1 � Continuing operations.
2 � Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.
3 � XETRA closing prices, Frankfurt.
4 � Based on shares outstanding.
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Second-quarter financial report Apr. � 25, 2012

Third-quarter financial report Jul. � 26, 2012

Preliminary figures for fiscal 2012 Nov. � 8, 2012

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for fiscal 2012 Jan. � 23, 2013

1  Provisional. Updates will be posted at www.siemens.com/financial-calendar.

Financial calendar 1
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